



IIoT Gateways FP S-OTGuard Hardware manual



Version: 2.5.5

© 2018 -2021 FP InovoLabs GmbH

www.inovolabs.com

Publication date: 22.01.2021

This manual is protected by copyright. Any further dissemination is only permitted with permission from the issuer. This also applies to copies, microfilms, translations, and storing and processing in electronic systems.

Trade and brand names used in this manual are registered trademarks of the applicable companies even if they are not designated as such explicitly.

Table of contents

1	THE FUNCTIONS AT A GLANCE	7
1.1	Comprehensive connection options	7
1.2	Easy to retrofit	7
1.3	Integrated PLC protocols	8
1.4	Integrated field bus protocols	8
1.5	Integrated cloud protocols	8
1.6	Web server in the FP gateway	9
1.7	Web apps	9
1.8	Remote switching by e-mail, HTTP request, cloud	9
1.9	Remote switching by SMS, e-mail and cloud	9
1.10	Logging data for the PLC	10
1.11	Cloud-based database and management	10
2	MODEL AND EQUIPMENT VARIANTS	11
2.1	Interfaces, inputs and outputs	11
2.2	FP I/O modules	11
2.3	Analogue inputs	12
3	INSTALLATION AND ASSEMBLY	13
3.1	Connections and controls at a glance	13
3.2	Meaning of the LEDs	14
3.3	Dimensions	15
3.4	Installation	16
3.5	Connecting the mobile communications antenna	16
3.6	Inserting the SIM card	17
4	TECHNICAL DETAILS REGARDING INTERFACES	18
4.1	COM1 - RS232 (DCE port or DTE plug)	18
4.2	COM2 - RS232 (DTE plug)	18
4.3	COM2 - RS485 / RS422	18

4.4	COM2 - MPI (multi-point interface)	22				
4.5	Ethernet connection	22				
4.6	COM3 - M-bus					
4.7	Digital and analogue inputs/outputs in the basic device	23				
5	POWER SUPPLY	25				
6	START-UP	26				
6.1	Using the gateway as a WiFi access point (only devices with USB)	26				
6.2	Using the gateway as a WiFi client (only devices with USB)	27				
7	FP CONFIGURATION SOFTWARE	29				
7.1	TILA – easy installation for technicians	29				
7.2	Secure login: Protects against unauthorised access	30				
7.3	TiXML console TICO for developers	30				
8	CONFIGURATION AND PROJECTS	31				
8.1	Initial configuration	31				
8.2 8. 8. 8.	IP address for the FP gateway.2.1Access to the web server.2.2Access with the TILA software.2.3Access with the TICO software	31 31 33 33				
8.3	Loading projects into the FP gateway	34				
8.4	Loading projects remotely into the FP gateway	34				
8.5 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8.	Putting the mobile communications modem into operation5.1Entering the PIN using the TILA software.5.2PIN OK, network present, FP gateway logged in.5.3PIN OK, no network, FP gateway not logged in.5.4PIN incorrect, FP gateway not logged in.5.5SIM card blocked, entering the SUPER PIN.5.6Service Centre on the SIM card.5.7Caution in border areas: Logging in abroad.5.8Call acceptance, mailbox and ringing tone	34 34 35 35 35 35 35 35 35 35				
9	COMMUNICATION WITH AN PLC	36				
9.1	PLC driver in the FP gateway	36				
9.2	Mitsubishi Alpha XL	37				
9.3	Mitsubishi MELSEC FX	37				
9.4	Siemens Simatic S7-200 to RS485	38				

4

9.5	Siemens Simatic S7-300/400 to MPI	38
9.6	Siemens Simatic S7-300/400/1200 via LAN	38
9.7	SAIA Burgess S-bus	39
9.8	Carel Macroplus	39
9.9	ABB AC010	40
9 10	Allen Bradley Pico GEX	40
5.10		
9.11	Allen Bradley Pico Series A + B	40
9.12	Berthel ModuCon	41
9.13	Moeller Easy 400/500/600/700	41
9.14	Moeller Easy 800/MFD	41
9.15	Moeller PS306/316, PS4-200 and PS4-300	42
9.16	VIPA	42
9.17	Moeller XC/XVC	42
9.18	Moeller easy control	43
10	SERIAL IP	44
10.1	Overview and description	44
10.1	L.1 Conventional serial connection	44
10.1	L.2 Connection via serial IP	44
10.2	Serial IP configuration	45
10.3	Configuring Ethernet	48
10.4	Application examples	10
10.4	Application examples	2 - 01
10.4	0.4.1.1 pcAnywhere ^M - settings	51
1	0.1.1.2 Virtual serial port settings for pcAnywhere ^M	52
10 /	1.2 Connection to a SAIA $PCD2^{M}$	52
10.4	0.121 Virtual serial port settings	52
1	0.4.2.1 Virtual serial port settings	53
1	0.4.2.2 SAIA control software settings: Foo mode	55
1	0.4.2.3 SAIA control software settings. S-bus mode	54
10.4	U.4.2.4 Serial IP Settings	55
10.4	4.5 Connection to M-bus	50
1	0.4.3.1 Virtual serial port settings	56
1	0.4.3.2 IVI-DUS SOTTWARE SETTINGS	57
1	U.4.3.3 Serial IP Settings	57
10.4	4.4 Connection to the Modbus RTU	58
1	U.4.4.1 Virtual serial port settings	58
1	0.4.4.2 Serial IP settings	58
10.5	Additional remarks	58
11	APPENDIX	59

11.1	Tec	hnical data for the FP S-OTGuard series	59
11.1	.1	Main functions	59
11.1	11.1.2 System architecture		
11.1	.3	Interfaces	60
11.1	.4	Ethernet connection	60
11.1	.5	WiFi stick (optional)	61
11.1	.6	Operating elements	61
11.1	.7	SD memory cards	61
11.1	.8	Mobile communications modem (model-dependent)	62
11.1	.9	Firmware	63
11.1	.10	General data	63
11.2	Оре	eration with an SD card	64
11.3	GNS	SS localization function (only available in some models)	64
11.4	LED	s, reset, update, error diagnostics	65
11.4	.1	LEDs during a restart	65
11.4	.2	LEDs in the event of errors	66
11.4	.3	The signal LED	66
11.4	.4	Factory reset	67
11.4	.5	Firmware update	68
11.5	Acc	essories	69
11.6	Mo	bile communications networks in Europe – USA – worldwide	70
11.7	Mo	dels	70
11.7	.1	Cover plates	70
11.7	.2	Variants	71
11.8	Furt	ther literature	72

Safety instructions

Target group Electricians

This manual is intended exclusively for qualified electricians who are familiar with the safety standards of electrical and automation engineering. Project planning, installation, start-up, maintenance and testing of the devices may only be carried out by a recognised qualified electrician.

Any interventions in the hardware and software of our products, unless they are described in this or other manuals, may only be carried out by our qualified personnel.

Intended use

The FP S-OTGuard models (subsequently referred to as FP gateways) are only intended for the applications described in this manual. Ensure that all specifications in the manual are observed. Unqualified interventions in the hardware or software, or a failure to observe the warnings in this manual can cause serious personal injury or damage to property. In this case, no liability is accepted and all warranty claims become invalid.

Safety-relevant regulations

When project planning, installing, starting up, maintaining and testing the devices, the safety and accident prevention regulations applicable for the specific application must be observed.

This manual provides instructions that are important for proper and safe use of the device. The individual instructions have the following meanings:



Means that there is a risk to the user's life if the corresponding preventive measures are not taken.

Means that there is a risk of injury for the user if the corresponding preventive measures are not taken.

ATTENTION

Means that there is a risk of damage to the device, the software or other material assets if the corresponding preventive measures are not taken.

1 The functions at a glance

The FP IIoT gateways (subsequently referred to as FP gateways) have a large data memory, many functions, integrated clod technology and a 128 MB non-volatile memory (Flash memory). The devices can perform the following functions fully automatically:

- Sending alarm and status messages (e-mail, SMS, cloud)
- Receiving switching commands by e-mail, SMS or cloud and transmitting them to a PLC,
- Sending data to a controller/system that is connected and
- Exchanging data between controllers.
- The models also have an SD card slot (or USB slot for devices in the Hx65x range, which can also be used for a WiFi function), which can be used to transfer the configuration to the device and to read out log data.

1.1 Comprehensive connection options

The FP gateways can communicate directly with controllers from many manufacturers via their PLC protocol. Furthermore, different bus systems are supported. Convenient software programs based on XML files enable the required functions to be configured easily.



Illustration: Sample application

The device's versatile functions allow for numerous areas of application such as monitoring temperature, pressure and fill levels or activating motors, fans, pumps, sliders and cover flaps.

1.2 Easy to retrofit

FP gateways can be integrated into existing systems with minimum effort. No changes to the PLC program are generally required.

1.3 Integrated PLC protocols

FP gateways can communicate directly with the PLC protocol and use the PLC programming interface to access PLC variables, markers and ports immediately. To do this, the PLC protocol does not have to be adjusted and no additional function module has to be loaded.

Mitsubishi	Moeller / Eaton	Siemens	ABB	Saia-Burgess
Alpha XL	Easy E4	S7-200	AC010	PCD1
FX1S	Easy400, 500	S7-300	AC31	PCD2
FX1N	Easy600, 700, 800	S7-400	AC500	PCD3
FX2N	MFD-Titan, XC/XVC0	S7-1200	AC800	PCS
FX2NC	PS4 range	S7-1500	CL	
FX3U	EasyControl	Logo! 8.X		Allen-Bradley
			Theben	Series A
Crouzet	Schneider Electric	VIPA	Pharao2	Series B
Millenium 2 + 3	Zelio, Twido MODICON	100V, 200V, 300V		GFX
		SPEED7		

1.4 Integrated field bus protocols

FP gateways can communicate directly with controllers, consumption meters, etc. via various field bus protocols.

The following PLC protocols are supported:

Field bus protocol	Explanation
Modbus master	International standard. RTU, TCP, ASCII are supported
Modbus slave	Completely configurable Modbus TCP slave
M-Bus	For consumption meters in accordance with DIN EN 13757
Wireless M-Bus	Supported via additional, optional "FP wMBus Adapter" supplementary module (conforms to OMS)
IEC 62056-21 mode C	For consumption meters (mode C); also known as EN 61107
IEC 62056-21 mode D	For eHZ consumption meters (mode D); also known as D0 protocol
Aurora	Communication protocol for ABB inverters (subset implemented)
TixiBus	For smaller OEM controllers

1.5 Integrated cloud protocols

FP gateways support multiple widely-used cloud protocols as standard. All cloud protocols provide a feedback channel via which you have direct access to the gateway from the cloud (e.g. for configurations):

Cloud protocol	Explanation
MQTT	Universal MQTT client (e.g. usable with AWS, Mosquitto, etc.)
Telekom CoT	MQTT protocol for the Telekom "Cloud der Dinge" (cloud of things)
Software AG	MQTT protocol for the Software-AG cloud (Cumulocity)
Juconn	MQTT protocol for the Juconn cloud

1.6 Web server in the FP gateway

Thanks to the web server that is integrated into the FP gateways, a standard browser on any computer can be used to display system statuses, PLC data and log data and to change this with a click of the mouse.

To do this, only corresponding HTML pages have to be stored in the device. Access is provided via an IP connection. For more details, see the web server manual.

1.7 Web apps

The web server for the FP gateways enables various applications that can be adjusted to the customer's requirements to be used.

For example, initial commissioning can be automated. The installer can therefore set up the device with just a few clicks on their tablet or smartphone so that it is accessible externally or can already perform the basic functions.

We'd be happy to provide you with more information.

Sample screenshots from a real commissioning app:



1.8 Remote switching by e-mail, HTTP request, cloud

The FP gateways can switch the outputs of a connected PLC with a short command by e-mail, HTTP request or from the cloud. Other PLC variables can also be changed in this way.

Up to 100 switching commands with up to 10 parameters each can be freely defined. PLC variables can be queried quickly and easily by e-mail, HTTP request or from the cloud.

1.9 Remote switching by SMS, e-mail and cloud

FP gateways with GSM modems can switch the outputs of a connected PLC with a short command by SMS, e-mail or from the cloud. Other PLC variables can also be changed in this way. CallerID can also be used to transfer commands (not supported by all models).

An acknowledgement of the execution of the command is possible. Up to 100 SMS switching commands with up to 10 parameters each can be freely defined. PLC variables can be queried quickly and easily, without a computer by SMS command.

1.10 Logging data for the PLC

The FP gateways record any PLC data (variables, ports) and system data with a configurable time and date stamp in a non-volatile flash memory (standard: 128 MB, other sizes available optionally). The query cycle and scope of the data to be logged can be configured feely.

The recorded data is sent by e-mail cyclically or based on events in CSV format, which is compatible with Excel. Several log files with a freely definable size can be created simultaneously. The memory is designed as a ring memory.

1.11 Cloud-based database and management

In a cloud-based database, numerous PLC systems and FP gateways can be managed. The data recorded when logging data can be saved, analysed and displayed here.

Only authorised users are permitted to access the data. The system can be adapted to the user requirements easily.

Only an active internet connection is required for the device to connect to the cloud automatically, logged in with the unique serial number.

As the user, you only have to enter the device's serial number and connect to your account.

You then have access to the device data already. Encrypted communication ensures the required security.



	A	В	С	D
1	Zeit	Temp_1	Temp_2	AirCond
2	09:00	21,3	11,5	0
3	09:10	21,3	11,5	0
4	09:20	21,4	11,4	0
5	09:30	21,3	11,3	0
6	09:40	21,4	11,3	0
7	09:50	21,4	11,4	0
8	10:00	21,5	11,5	0
9	10:10	21,4	11,5	0
10	10:20	21,5	11,6	1
11	10:30	21,6	11,7	1
12	10:40	21,8	11,7	1
13	10:50	22,1	11,8	1
14	11:00	22,1	11,7	1

2 Model and equipment variants

2.1 Interfaces, inputs and outputs

The FP gateways are available in several equipment variants. These are identical in basic functions but differ in the type and number of interfaces as well as inputs and outputs.

Built-in interfaces for the top-hat rail models							
Connection type	H651	H653-M100	H627	H632	H634	H647	H671
Ethernet	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
COM1	RS232 ¹	RS232 ¹	RS232 ²				
COM2	RS485	RS485	RS232 ¹	RS232 ¹	RS232 ¹	RS485	Siemens MPI
Digital inputs	1	1	2	8	4	2	-
Digital outputs	-	-	2	2	4	2	-
Analogue inputs	-	-	1	1	1	1	-
USB host	1	1	-	-	-	-	-
M-Bus (COM3)	-	1 (100 loads)	-	-	-	-	-
Relay	-	-	1	-	-	1	-

All specified models are of type "FP S-OTGuard".

¹ DTE ² DCE

The FP gateways are based on a modern Linux operating system and the software is compatible with the older Tixi Hx400 series.

2.2 FP I/O modules

FP I/O modules are available as accessories for the devices in the HE range and these can be used to add up to 128 additional input and output modules to the basic device. The FP I/O bus can be used to connect up to 8 I/O modules with up to 128 I/Os to the basic device. The FP I/O bus can also be used for customer-specific I/O modules.

Expansion modules for more I/Os					
Up to 8 I/O mod	ules with up	to 128 I/Os can be coupled to an FP Gateway via the I/O expansion bus.			
	XP84D	8 digital inputs (switchable via potential-free contacts, max. 5 V) 4 digital outputs (potential-free, AC/DC 125 V, max. 130 mA)			
Module types	XP88D	8 digital inputs (switchable via potential-free contacts, max. 5 V) 8 digital outputs (potential-free, AC/DC 125 V, max. 130 mA)			
	XP84DR	8 digital inputs (switchable via potential-free contacts, max. 5 V) 4 relays; (potential-free, 230 VAC 3 A, 110 VDC 0.3 A)			
	XS00	2 free slots for S1 expansion modules (see "S1 expansion modules" table)			

S1-expansion modules (requires optional Xs00-module expansion)						
Up to 2 S1 plug-in modules can be installed per XS00 module. Several XS00-module expansions are cascadable.						
	S1-D50	5x digital inputs, max. 24 V	-			
	S1-D30G	3x digital inputs, independently and galvanically isolated (0 - +/- 60 V; input current 2.2 - 3.1 mA)	-			
Innute	S1-AE3	3x analogue inputs 0 - 10 V / 0 - 20 mA (can be adjusted using jumpers)	0.2 % +/- 5 mV			
inputs	S1-PT3	3x Pt-1000 inputs; resolution: 0.3K	+/- 1.2 K			
	S1-PT3C	3x Pt-100 inputs; resolution: 0.3K	+/- 1.2 K			
	S1-S03	3x pulse inputs S0 for read contacts; cable length max. 30 m; optional battery backup via button cells	-			
	S1-D05	5x digital outputs, max. 48 V, 120 mA	-			
	S1-D03G	3x digital outputs, galvanically isolated	-			
Outputs	S1-AA2	2x analogue outputs 0 - 10 V / 0 - 20 mA (can be adjusted using jumpers) A separate 24 V power supply is required on the XS00 module	1 % +/- 6 mV			
	S1-WL2	2x changeover relay, max. 230 V / 3 A	-			

2.3 Analogue inputs

Some series of the FP gateways are equipped with an analogue input among other things. If you require more than one analogue input, the external XS00 FP supplementary module can be used with the S1-AE3 analogue module or a small controller (e.g. a Mitsubishi Alpha XL).

3 Installation and assembly

3.1 Connections and controls at a glance



No.	Designation	Meaning
1	Ethernet	Ethernet port (RJ45) with LEDs (see section 4.5)
2	COM1 (RS232)	9-pin D-sub port (DCE) or plug (DTE)
3	COM2 (RS232)	9-pin D-sub plug (DTE, not Hx647, Hx671)
3	COM1 (RS485/422)	5 screw terminals (configurable via DIP switches, only Hx 671)
3	COM2 (S7-MPI)	9-pin D-sub port (only Hx671)
Л	10 - 30 V DC	Power supply (2 screw terminals)
4	18 - 30 V DC	Power supply (2 screw terminals) for H653-M100
5	Service	Button (function can be programmed by the user)
6	I/Os, M-bus and LEDs	Depending on the device type
7	FP I/O bus	6-pin precision port for expansion modules
8	Unmount	Button to disconnect the SD card / USB stick Controls the WiFi function (model-dependent)
9	SD card	Slot for SD card (standard SD card, max. 32 GB)
10	Antenna port	Plug (FME) for antenna cable (model-dependent)
11	USB port	USB host port for WiFi stick / memory stick (model-dependent)

3.2 Meaning of the LEDs

The following table provides you with an overview of the operating statuses that are indicated by the LEDs on the device.

LED	Status	Meaning
Power	0	No power supply
Power	\bigcirc	Device ready for operation
	\bigcirc	No process, no messages in the outbox
Process/Data Out	0	Process execution
	\bigcirc	Messages for sending in the device
	0	Modem is not logged into the GSM network
	\bigcirc	GSM connection established
	(flashes)	Connection setup (incoming or outgoing call)
Line	(flashes 1x per second)	Modem is logged into the GSM network
	(flashes 2x per second)	Modem is logged into the GPRS network
	\bigcirc	no connection
LAN	\bigcirc	Ethernet active
	(flashes)	IP address conflict or no IP address received via DHCP
Signal		application specific, user-programmable
	0	Transparent mode switched off
Mode		Transparent mode (device has switched through transparent connection to a serial interface)
	0	WiFi not active/no USB memory stick loaded
	(flashes briefly)	WiFi mode is active
WIFI	(flashes for an extended period)	USB memory stick detected and loaded, WiFi active *
	\bigcirc	USB memory stick detected and loaded
	0	Connection established
	\bigcirc	No connection
RJ45	(flashes)	Data transmission
	\bigcirc	100MBit connection
	0	10Mbit connection
"Service" button		Button: application specific, user-programmable
"SD Unmount" button		Optional: Unmount a USB memory stick Optional: Turn the WiFi function on / off (requires a plug-in WiFi module)

st An external USB hub is required to operate the USB memory stick and the WiFi stick simultaneously

Only on Hx671 models for the Siemens Simatic S7 with MPI interface:

	\bigcirc	Connection to the PLC established
Data	(flashes)	Data being transferred from/to the PLC
Active Param.	\bigcirc	is correctly parametrised and registered on the MPI net

Only on the Hx627 models:

	0
Data	0
	\bigcirc

No communication to COM2
PLC or transmode data traffic from COM1 to COM2
PLC or transmode data traffic from COM2 to COM1

3.3 Dimensions



3.4 Installation

Mount the device by sliding or snapping it onto a DIN rail ($35 \times 15 \text{ mm} | 1.4" \times 0.6"$ or $35 \times 7.5 \text{ mm} | 1.4" \times 0.3"$ top-hat rail, in accordance with EN 50022).



ATTENTION

Damage to the device due to external influences!

Only use the device in dry and clean spaces. Protect the device from moisture, water spray, heat and direct sunlight.

Do not expose the device to strong shocks or vibrations.

Explosion due to reactions between sparks and inflammable substances

Danger to life from explosion!

Keep the device away from inflammable gases, vapours, dust or conductive dusts.

3.5 Connecting the mobile communications antenna

First find a suitable location for the mobile communications antenna outside the electrical cabinet. To find a suitable location with good reception, the TILA operating software can be used to display the reception quality.

We recommend performing several measurements and finding an average value, as the signal strength at the intended reception location can vary greatly.

Use an antenna with high antenna gain if the signal strength at the receiving location is too low. Especially transferring data by e-mail places higher demands on the connection's quality and stability than short SMS connections.

In order to design data connections (for remote parametrisation, Internet dial-up) reliably, the signal strength should be at least -77 to -53 dBm. In the range from -95 to -79 dBm, SMS still works in most cases, but the connections often break down. No operation is possible below -97 dBm.

Screw the antenna or antenna cable into the antenna plug on the top of the FP gateway.

Standard mobile communications antenna can be used

You can use standard mobile communications antennas with an FME plug. The mobile communications antenna is not included with the FP gateway and can be ordered separately. A list of available antennas is provided in section 11.5 in this manual.

Buying the correct antenna

When buying the antenna, pay attention to the correct frequency range for your mobile communications provider.

Extending the antenna cable

If the antenna cable length is insufficient for your requirements, you can obtain suitable extension cables from mobile communications accessories suppliers. Note that these cables have a damping effect that reduces the antenna gain and also note the manufacturer specifications.

3.6 Inserting the SIM card

ATTENTION

Damage to the device due to using the SIM card incorrectly!

Only insert the SIM card when the device is de-energised.

Use a mobile phone to ensure that there are no SMS saved on the SIM card.

ATTENTION

SIM card damage or blocking due to improper use!

Do not touch the contacts on the SIM card.

If a different SIM card was used previously in the device, first load a project with the new SIM card's PIN into the device.

Unlock the receiving drawer for the SIM card by pressing the small button to the right of the drawer using a pen or a pointed object.

You can now pull the drawer out carefully and insert your SIM card (standard or mini SIM). Then slide the SIM card receiving drawer back into the device with the SIM contacts pointing downwards until the drawer clicks into place.

SIM cards are sometimes delivered with very different properties that must be noted and, if in doubt, queried with the corresponding provider:

- Old SIM cards (5V) do not work; replacements with a more modern SIM card (V3) is required and normally also possible.
- SIM cards may not be data-capable or may only be data-capable after requesting that this is activated.
- Prepaid cards often withhold their own phone number when making outgoing calls.
- When you call the FP gateway, no ringing tone is given by some SIM cards due to prepaid cards being supported. This does impair the functions.

4 Technical details regarding interfaces

The COM1 and COM2 serial interfaces are used to connect a PC, a programmable logic controller (PLC) or other devices.

4.1 COM1 - RS232 (DCE port or DTE plug)



The RS232 interface COM1 (9-pin D-sub port) is present on most FP gateways.

On the H650 device series, COM1 is designed as an RS232 as a 9pin D-sub plug.

On the plug (DTE), the pins are arranged in the opposite order.

4.2 COM2 - RS232 (DTE plug)



A controller can be connected directly to the 9-pin RS232 interface (plug) designated as COM2, as the COM2 corresponds to the standard RS232 interface on a PC.

FP InovoLabs provides various adapter types for the RS232 connection. For more information regarding these adapters, see section 9 in this manual.

Note

As the majority of controllers require special serial programming cables, you should always work with the programming cable from the controller manufacturer. For more information regarding connecting the different controllers, see section 9 in this manual.

4.3 COM2 - RS485 / RS422

The devices in the Hx647 series have an RS485/422 interface in order to connect 2-wire or 4-wire bus systems. The interface on the device is designed as a 5-pin screw terminal strip. The interface is not galvanically decoupled.



RS485/422 assignment viewed from above



Twisted, twin wire lines ("twisted pair") are recommended. In RS422 operation and with a 4-wire RS485, 2 twin wire lines each must be used.

RS422 connection



The *receiving lines* are connected to

R+ (receiver T+) and R- (receiver T-),

the transmission lines are connected to

T+ (receiver R+) and T- (receiver R-)

in accordance with the adjacent sketch.

Access to the DIP switches

A DIP switch is used to set the operating mode on the RS485/422 interface. This is located on the right next to the COM2 connection terminal and can be accessed after removing the cover.

Insert a screwdriver (with a blade width of around 3mm | 0.12" into the slot and turn the screwdriver slightly.

The terminal cover pops out of the housing with an audible click and can be removed.

The DIP switches are located under this cover and their meanings are described in the following table.



20 Technical details regarding interfaces

Setting the operating mode on the DIP switch

Operating mode	Switch 1	Switch 2	Switch 3	Switch 4	DIP
2-wire RS485 with termination	1	1	1	1	1111
2-wire RS485 without termination	0	0	1	1	0011
4-wire RS485 without termination	0	0	0	0	0000
4-wire RS485 with termination on the receiving line	1	1	0	0	1100
RS422	0	0	0	0	0000



Note

The RS485 requires that the lines be terminated at both ends of the transmission path. Termination prevents reflections in the lines and forces a defined idle state on the bus at times in which no data transmitter is active.

Termination can be external, e.g. via discrete resistors on the screw terminal. It can also be performed using the DIP switch on the FP gateway.

RS485 2-wire connection (2-wire bus system, half-duplex)

In this operating mode, the transmission line and receiving line are connected to each other. If the FP gateway is arranged at the start (start station) or the end (end station) on the bus system, the bus must be terminated via the DIP switches.



T+ to T+ or R+ and for the T- to T- or R-

connection in accordance with the adjacent sketch.

RS485 4-wire connection (4-wire bus system, full-duplex)

The connections for the 2 twin wire lines must be wired in the same way as for the RS422 connection. Both twin wire lines must be terminated if the FP gateway is arranged at the start or end of the two bus lines.



Termination for the receiving lines is activated using the DIP switches. The transmission lines must be terminated externally (see illustration, arrow).

The twisted, twin wire lines must be connected in accordance with the adjacent sketch.

To terminate the transmission lines, connect a 120 Ohm/0.5W (arrow) resistor between screw terminals T+ and T-.

RS485 with 2-wire connection (2-wire bus system, half-duplex)

Some devices such as the Hx651 and Hx653, etc. have an RS485 interface in order to connect 2-wire bus systems.

The interface on the device is designed as a 3-pin screw terminal strip:



In the 2-wire variant, there are only 2 DIP switches.

Operating mode	Switch 1	Switch 2	DIP
2-wire RS485 with termination	1	1	11
2-wire RS485 without termination	0	0	00

The switch positions for both DIP switches must always be identical (either both 0 or both 1).



ATTENTION

Communication faults due to incorrect or missing termination!

Ensure that the end devices are terminated correctly.

4.4 COM2 - MPI (multi-point interface)

The MPI is a specific bus and is used to network devices that implement the S7-MPI interface. The MPI bus has the RS485 level and transmission rates of 19.2 or 187.5 kBaud.

The COM2 MPI is a 9-pin D-sub port with the following assignment:

Pin	D-sub port MPI
1	n.c.
2	n.c.
3	DATA.A
4	n.c.
5	0V (m5V)
6	+ 5V
7	n.c.
8	DATA.B
9	RTS PG

Note

The S7 PLC (S7-300/400) is connected via the Profibus plug that is not included. We recommend using the Siemens Profibus plug (e.g. 6ES7-972-0BB12-0XA0) or a compatible plug.

For more information regarding operating the MPI interface, see section 10.5.

ATTENTION

Damage to the interface due to incorrect connection!

Ensure that the S7 PLC cable is connected correctly to COM2.

Ensure that you do not mix up the RS232 cable (COM1) and the MPI cable (COM2).

4.5 Ethernet connection

The Ethernet connection is designed in accordance with IEE 802.3. It is designed as a shielded 8P8C port (often known as an RJ45 port). The assignment is so that the connection to the HUB or switch can be established using a 1:1 wired and shielded patch cable. The LEDs that indicate the interface statuses are also located in the 8P8C port. The meaning of the LEDs is as follows:

green: illuminated	Ethernet connection established
green: flashing	Data is being transferred
yellow: off	10 Base-T
yellow: illuminated	100 Base-T



The connection works in Auto-Negotiation operating mode. The data transmission speed and full- or half-duplex are arranged automatically with the switch/HUB that is connected.

The connection's wiring is visible in the adjacent drawing.

4.6 COM3 - M-bus

The M-bus is a 2-wire bus system that is used to read out resource meters for heat, water, gas and electricity automatically.

The M-bus is designed in accordance with DIN EN 13757-2 and DIN EN 13757-3 and is the master for up to 100 slaves (end devices).

The M-bus voltage is 36 voltage and is symmetrical to the protective earth.

Data communication is performed in both directions with 8 data bits, 1 start bit, 1 stop bit and 1 parity bit (even parity).

Baud rates of 300, 2400, 4800, 9600 and 19200 can be used.

The bus length depends on the baud rate and should be a maximum of one kilometre.

Twisted standard telephone cables (unshielded) with a diameter of 0.8 mm (0.03") must be used.

4.7 Digital and analogue inputs/outputs in the basic device

The inputs in the basic device can be used to detect and evaluate digital and analogue signals. Switching processes are performed via the outputs and relays.



Note

The number and design of the inputs and outputs depends on the device type used. For more detailed overviews of the device types and their equipment, see section 2 in this manual.

Digital input



The digital inputs can be switched *potential-free* using switches or relay contacts. Digital signals can also be connected (max. 5V).

The lines should be kept as short as possible.

Analogue input



A voltage of 0 to 10 V DC can be applied to analogue inputs. The typical input current at 10 V is around 100 $\mu\text{A}.$

Input resistance: approx. 100 kOhm.

Digital output



The digital outputs are potential-free and can switch DC or AC voltages of up to 48 V. The capacity per output is 0.12 A.

ATTENTION

Output destruction due to too high an output load!

Imax = 0.12 A; Umax = 48 V AC/DC

The maximum output load for the digital outputs must not be exceeded.

Relay output



Ohmic or inductive loads can be connected directly to the relay outputs. The capacity per output is 3 A / 230 V AC or 0.3 A / 110 V DC.

ATTENTION

Output destruction due to too high an output load!

 I_{max} = 3 A at 230 V AC or 0.3 A at 110 V DC

The maximum output load for the relay outputs must not be exceeded.

5 Power supply

After performing all other installation work, establish the power supply connection to the device.

ATTENTION

Faults on the device due to incorrect voltage connection!

U = 10-30 V DC (for M-bus models: U = 18-30 V DC)

Ensure that the voltage connections have the correct polarity.





Note DC cable and AC cables

In order to avoid interference from mains adapters or other sources of interference, do not lay the DC cables in the immediate vicinity of AC cables.

ATTENTION

Inadequate power supply due to insufficient cable cross section!

Only use cables with sufficient wire cross-section for connection.

ATTENTION

Damage to the device due to incorrect torque!

Tighten the clamping screws to a torque of 0.5 Nm (0.37 ft lb).



Electrical voltage Risk of electric shock!

Ensure that the device is de-energised when wiring.

6 Start-up

When all installation steps are completed, the device can be put into operation. Simply establish the power supply to do this.

Self-test after turning on

After applying the operating voltage, the device carries out an extensive self-test. All LEDs are switched on once for checking and all three memory types are checked. The memory test is also performed automatically each time the device is turned on.

LEDs during the self-test

Power	Data out/Process	Line	LAN	Mode	Remarks
\bigcirc	0		\bigcirc		Load firmware, check checksum
\bigcirc	+ (O)				Unpacking of the firmware
	(flashes)				
\bigcirc	0				Launching the Kernel
\bigcirc	\bigcirc				Launching the Linux application
					All LEDs off for approx. 5s
\bigcirc	(flashes)	(flashes)	() (flashes)		Multiple simultaneous flashing of Data Out/Line/LAN

As soon as the device is ready for operation, an acoustic signal is emitted. Duration of the start procedure (depending on the project): approx. 1 minute.

Memory test

The internal memory with RAM, the program memory (flash ROM) and the file system in the user memory (flash) are tested. This test takes around 60 seconds.

The FP gateway is ready for operation

Once the self-test is complete, the device is now electrically usable.

6.1 Using the gateway as a WiFi access point (only devices with USB)

A mini formal WiFi stick can be used to also operate FP gateways with a USB interface as an access point and therefore to perform configuration wirelessly.

Insert the WiFi stick into the USB connection and wait a few seconds.

Now press the "SD Unmount" button for around 4 seconds. The WiFi LED should now flash quickly. After around 15 - 20 seconds, the LED flashes cyclically every second. The access point is now active.

Default values after factory reset:

<u>SSID</u> :	Tixi-Devtype-serial
Authentication:	WPA2
Password:	berlin2000
<u>Host name</u> :	Tixi-Devtype-serial
Number of client connections:	1
IP address via WiFi:	192.168.100.1

The WiFi configuration can be adjusted using the "WLAN_AP" ISP database.

All following database entries are optional. If individual entries are omitted, the respective default values apply.

```
[<SetConfig _="ISP" ver="v">
<WLAN_AP>
  <SSID _="HT651_Test" />
   <EnableOnStartup _="0" />
   <AllowedConnections _="1" />
   <Authentication _="WPA2_TKIP|WPA2_CCMP" />
   <Password _="Secret Password" />
   <HostName _="HT651_Test" />
   </WLAN_AP>
</SetConfig>]
```

SSID

Name of the access point (ASCII characters, no special characters).

Default: Tixi-Devtype-serial

EnableOnStartup

This parameter determines whether the WiFi access point is automatically activated when the system starts. 0=do not activate automatically; 1=activate automatically; default: 0

AllowedConnections

Defines how many concurrent client connections are allowed (max. 5). Default: 1

Authentication

Specifies the encryption method. WPA2_TKIP (default) and WPA2_CCMP are supported.

Password

WiFi password (ASCII characters, no special characters).

```
Default value: berlin2000
```

Host name

Host name via which the FP gateway can be reached (alternative to the IP address). Default: see SSID

WiFi IP address for the FP gateway: 192.168.100.1

Automatic connection to the WiFi access point via WPS (WiFi Protected Setup)

The USB devices support the WiFi Protected Setup (WPS) option in access point mode.

WPS allows automatic connection to an access point without entering a password.

To switch to WPS mode, access point mode must already be active on the FP gateway.

How to switch WPS mode on:

Press the "SD Unmount" button on the FP gateway for around 1 second, hold the button and then press the "Service" button at the same time.

The "WiFi On" LED should now flash rapidly. WPS mode is activated.

You can now use your end device (laptop, smartphone etc.) to establish a connection to the FP gateway. Many end devices detect WPS mode automatically (e.g. Windows 10) and can connect directly to the FP gateway. WPS mode is active for about 2 minutes. The FP gateway then switches back to normal access point mode. WPS mode can be reactivated at any time.

6.2 Using the gateway as a WiFi client (only devices with USB)

A mini formal WiFi stick can be used to also use FP gateways with a USB interface as a WiFi client. In this mode, the FP gateway connects to a WiFi router and can therefore be integrated into a network wirelessly.

"WiFi client" mode must be configured. After a factory reset, "Access point" mode (see section 6.1) is active initially. For the FP gateway to work as a WiFi client, the ISP/WLAN database must be configured.

SSID

Name of the access point to which the FP gateway should connect (only ASCII characters allowed)

Authentication

Specifies the encryption method. Currently only WPA_TKIP is supported.

Password

Router WiFi password (only ASCII characters, no special characters).

ΙP

IP configuration. Only DHCP mode is supported currently (automatic assignment of IP address, gateway and DNS by the router)

Host name

Host name via which the FP gateway can be reached on the network (if supported by the router).

After configuring the ISP/WLAN database, plug the WiFi stick into the USB connection and wait a few seconds. The WiFi LED should now flash briefly every second.

The FP gateway is now logged on to the router. If the WiFi LED is not flashing, check the settings (especially the password).

Please note:

Simultaneous use of the LAN interface and WiFi client mode on the same network (i.e. connecting the FP gateway to the WiFi router both wirelessly and via LAN cable) is currently not supported. If the FP gateways are to be used as WiFi clients, the configuration for the WiFi access point is not permitted to be active.

Scanning the WiFi network

You can use the [<ScanWLAN ver="y">] command to scan the WiFi network for access points.

Result (example):

7 FP configuration software

FP InovoLabs supplies various software tools to configure the FP gateway, which are tailored to the different requirements of the various user groups.

TILA	FP configuration software for technicians and experienced end users
TICO	TiXML console for developers and experienced technicians
WebTILA	Web-based configuration tool for M-bus, 1-wire, I/Os, data communication

7.1 TILA – easy installation for technicians

TILA is Windows software that can be used to conveniently configure the FP gateway's functions such as alarms and messages, message receipt and sending, and reading out logged data.

With a click of the mouse, you can merge recipients, messages and PLC variables or I/O ports into alarm messages. For more details, see the TILA manual.

Neues Projekt (nicht gespeichert) - TILA	_		×
<u>D</u> atei <u>M</u> odem <u>S</u> PS <u>V</u> ariablen Ad <u>r</u> essbuch <u>N</u> achrichten <u>A</u> larme <u>F</u> ernschalten Optionen Ex <u>t</u> ras <u>H</u> ilfe			
Modem- und Standortangaben Telefoneinstellungen	Nicht	verbunde	n 😁
Gerät # FP Gateway Figene Telefonnummer Einstellungen Land: Deutschland (+49) Telefoneinstellungen Mobilfunk-Kennzahl: 171 Yorwahlen Telefonnummer: 12345678 Absenderdaten Internetzugang Standorttexte Internetzugang SIM-Karte Mailserver Datum und Uhrzeit Zugangsschutz FIN: Iz24			
Erweiterungen Wahlwiederholung Details Einstellungen zur automatischen Wahlwiederholung bei Verbindungsfehlern. Wahlwersuche: 1 Schulgerät: Vertrag) der SIM-Karte Wahlwersuche: 2 Wahlwersuche: 2 Wartezeit: 2 Weiter >>			
Verbindung Projekt FP Gateway SPS Variablen Adressbuch Nachrichten Alarme Fernschalten Datenloggen Protokoli Optionen			
Nicht verbunden		NUM	

TILA also enable you to access a remove FP gateway from the PC using an IP connection (via mobile communications or LAN) and to configure it remotely: You can use TILA to access a remote device in exactly the same way as a local device and to use the same range of functions.

The FP gateways in the H600 range require TILA Version 2.6 or higher.



) Note

Adapted versions of TILA can be created for OEM customers, which only allow certain entries. Please contact FP InovoLabs GmbH for more information.

7.2 Secure login: Protects against unauthorised access

FP gateways can be protected against unauthorised access. To do this, specify the authorised users in TILA and TICO during configuration. Only authorised users can then change and read out the FP gateway's configuration and access it locally and remotely.

If the secure login data has been "forgotten", the device must be reset to factory defaults using Factory Reset (see section 11.4.4). This is the only way to delete the entire configuration, which also includes the project that was created. The FP gateway must then be re-configured with the project and the secure login.

The only exception is the SIM PIN for the FP gateway's internal mobile communications modem, which is also retained after this type of reset in order to prevent logging in with an empty and therefore incorrect PIN.

7.3 TiXML console TICO for developers

The TICO Windows program is available to create TiXML project for complex tasks. Experience with XML programming is helpful but not essential.

Demo projects with tutorials and a comprehensive command reference are supplied as standard with TICO.

For more details, see the TILA manual.





Note

We recommend a one to two day training session to get to know TiXML and TICO. Please contact FP InovoLabs GmbH for more information.

Furthermore, FP InovoLabs offers project creation as a service.

8 Configuration and projects

8.1 Initial configuration

You can imagine an FP gateway as a PC with an operating system and many communication programs. After turning on for the first time, the task memory is empty and the device does not "know" what to do. It must first be configured and be assigned a task. Task setting for the device with all relevant specifications is known as a project and is saved in a TiXML project file. These points are explained in the following paragraphs.

8.2 IP address for the FP gateway

The FP gateway can be configured via the LAN connection using the TICO or TILA parametrisation software. When delivered from the factory or after a factory reset, the FP gateway has a fixed IP address or can be addressed via a defined host name in a network with a DHCP server.

A WiFi stick can also be used for wireless access (only H650 models).

Network without DHCP server / direct connection to PC

The device attempts to obtain an IP address from a DHCP server for about 30 seconds after turning on. If it has not received an answer after 30 seconds, the device's LAN LED flashes and the default IP address is set as follows:

In this case, the IP address for the FP gateway on the LAN connection is as follows: 192.168.0.1

The IP address for the FP gateway via WiFi is: 192.168.100.1

Network with DHCP server

In a network with DHCP server, the host name is formed in accordance with the following scheme:

Tixicom-Devtype-serial (applies to LAN and WiFi)

Devtype	=	device type	(see serial	number	plate)· HT651	HT623-M100	etc
Devlype	_	uevice type	See Senai	number	place	J. 111051	, 111023-101100	, כוכ.

serial

serial number for the FP gateway, see the test label on the bottom of the housing
 (SN: always 8 characters)

Example Default host name for model **HG621**, serial number 04240361

If you have integrated the FP gateway into a domain network with a DHCP server, it is usually necessary to add the local address of your domain network to the device host name, e.g. in the FP InovoLabs company network: Tixicom-HG621-04240361.tixicom.local

8.2.1 Access to the web server

As delivered and after a factory reset, a default website is installed on the FP gateway.

To access the default website, enter the IP address or host name of your FP gateway in the address line of your browser, e.g.:



Illustration: Access via host name



Illustration: Access via WiFi with fixed IP address

FP S-OTGuard BB + 2xRS485 + USB

Hardware		LAN		
Device type	LA852-N BB	Hostname	n/a	
Serial number		IP address	192.168.178.71	
Filesystem size	85.377.024 Bytes	Subnet mask	255.255.255.0	
Free Memory	82.796.544 Bytes	Gateway	192.168.178.1	
Software		DNS	192.168.178.1	
Firmware	6.00.00.150	Link speed	100 MBit/s	
Firmware Date	2020-07-31 20:25:43	MAC address	00:11:E8:8A:24:06	
Linux Kernel Linux buildroot 4.13.16-684713c #1 PREEMPT Fri Jul 31 20:24:13 CEST 2020 armv7l GNU/Linux Role		WLAN		
		Role	Access Point	
UBoot	2017.03-linux4sam_5.7 Tixi 1.2 (Aug 09 2018 - 17:02:55 +0200)	SSID LA852-N-04905319		
Webserver	(nug 05 2010 - 17102100 - 10200)	Active connections	1	
HTTP port	80	Signal strength (dBm)	-45	
Connection timeout	300s	Rate (Mbit/s)	5.5	
GSM		Hostname	mytixi	
Signal strength (0-31)	30	IP address	192.168.100.1	
Operator	Telekom.de	Subnet mask	255.255.255.0	
Local IP address	10.157.241.216	Gateway	192.168.100.1	
GPRS APN	internet.t-mobile	DNS	192.168.100.1	
GPRS Connection time	24h	Times		
IMEI		System time	Fri, 07 Aug 20 08:10:06 +0000	
IMSI		Timezone	+0000	
		Last power-on time	2020/08/06,10:04:31	
		Last power-off time	2020/08/06,10:00:00	
System links				
System config		S	ystem properties	
Local User Data Bus Config			cal Lisor Data Troo	

Choose file (.txt):	Datei auswählen Keine ausgewählt	Upload
---------------------	----------------------------------	--------

The default website displays a variety of information regarding the hardware and configuration of the device clearly.

Additionally, the configuration ("System config" button) and the process data ("System properties" button) of the connected sensors (meters, PLCs etc., if configured) can be displayed in separate windows.

8.2.2 Access with the TILA software

1. Start TILA

2. Click the "Online" button on the home page:



3. Double-click the appropriate entry in the list of possible connections:

- GPRS/Internet/LAN for connections via the FP gateway's LAN port
- FP WLAN Stick for connections via WiFi using the FP WiFi stick

4. Enter the FP gateway' s IP address or host name in the "IP Einstellungen" (IP Settings) section.

If the "FP WLAN Stick" (FP Wi-Fi stick) option has been selected, the IP address is already preset and does not have to be adjusted. The default address for WiFi access is: 192.168.100.1

IP Einstellungen Einstellungen, mit denen das entfernte Modem über TCP/IP erreicht werden soll.				
	IP-Adresse:	192.168.100.1		
	IP-Port:	8300		

Illustration: Entering the IP address or the host name

5. Now click the "Verbinden" (Connect) button:

Status der Verbindung:	Nicht verbunden	-
	Verbinden	

➔ Once the connection to the FP gateway has been established successfully, this is signalled at the upper right edge of TILA:

Mit Gerät verbunden 🔘

8.2.3 Access with the TICO software

1. Start TICO.

2. Click the "Settings" menu item and select "TCP/IP".



34 Configuration and projects

3. Enter the IP address or the host name in the dialogue and click "OK":

TCP/IP settings	\times
Please set the IP address/FQDN and WinSock port	t.
IP address/FODN: 192.168.100.1	
Wr. c. J	
WINSOCK port: 0500	
OK Cancel	

If the "Online" option in the middle of the TICO window is activated, deactivate the option with a single mouse click:

🔲 O<u>n</u>line

4. Click the "Port" menu item and select "TCP/IP".



➔ After the connection to the FP gateway has been established successfully, the "Online" option is activated.

8.3 Loading projects into the FP gateway

The TILA software is available to you to create projects (see section 7.1, FP software). You can enter the required parameters conveniently on the PC and save them as a TiXML project file on the PC's hard disk. The SIM card's PIN is also entered in the software and saved in the project data. An IP connection is used to transfer the project to the FP gateway (LAN or optionally WiFi).

The device is now autonomously functional without a PC and can monitor a PLC for example.

8.4 Loading projects remotely into the FP gateway

After a functional configuration was loaded into the FP gateway, this can also be changed or transferred via remote access (IP connection). Each reconfiguration (remote or local) can be protected against unauthorised access via a login with password.

8.5 Putting the mobile communications modem into operation

In order to configure the FP gateway correctly for mobile communication operation, the SIM card PIN must be entered as for a mobile phone. The FP gateway can only log in automatically and be ready for operation with a correct PIN. The PIN is specified in the documents from your mobile communications provider. The PIN can be changed by inserting the SIM card into a mobile phone.

8.5.1 Entering the PIN using the TILA software

If you are using the TILA software, you can enter the PIN when creating the project.

8.5.2 PIN OK, network present, FP gateway logged in

If the PIN entered into the project is correct for the SIM card inserted into the mobile communications modem and there is network reception for the relevant provider, the FP gateway logs in like a mobile phone. The Line LED then flashes at regular intervals.

8.5.3 PIN OK, no network, FP gateway not logged in

If the PIN entered into the project is correct for the SIM card inserted but there is no network reception for the relevant provider, the FP gateway cannot log in, the Line LED does not flash and remains off.

Once the reception is again sufficient, e.g. because a stronger antenna is used, the Line LED flashes again.

8.5.4 PIN incorrect, FP gateway not logged in

If the PIN entered into the project is incorrect for the SIM card inserted, the FP gateway cannot log in and the Process, Line and Data out LEDs flash.

The same happens if there is no project and therefore no PIN present in the FP gateway, for example, after initial commissioning.

Ensure that a valid SIM card was inserted. Check that it is in the correct position and check the PIN used.

8.5.5 SIM card blocked, entering the SUPER PIN

If the FP gateway is started with an incorrectly configured PIN three times, the SIM card is then blocked and can be unblocked using the PUK. The card can be unblocked by entering the SUPER PIN. To do so, insert the blocked SIM into a mobile phone and enter the SUPER PIN and the PIN in accordance with the operating manual. If the mobile phone logs in properly using the SIM card, you can re-insert the now unblocked SIM card into the FP gateway again.

8.5.6 Service Centre on the SIM card

Also use a mobile phone to check whether the phone number for the SMSC (Short Message Service Centre) is entered on the SIM card. If this is not the case, short messages (SMS) will not be able to be sent using the FP gateway. In this case, contact your mobile communications service provider to find out what this number is and how to save it on the SIM card.

8.5.7 Caution in border areas: Logging in abroad

As with a mobile phone, the FP gateway searches for the strongest mobile communications provider in the location. In an area of up to 10 km from the country border, this may be a foreign mobile communications provider. If the FP gateway logs in there, this may cause significantly higher costs (roaming). Furthermore, problems may occur when sensing SMS and e-mails.

You can prevent logging in to "foreign" networks by assigning a "home network" for the SIM card.

8.5.8 Call acceptance, mailbox and ringing tone

Due to a special initialisation of the mobile communications module, which also enables data to be transferred with prepaid cards, no ringing tones are output on some SIM cards when the modem is rung. In "Telecontrol via CallerID", wait for around 5 seconds after dialling instead of the first ringing tone in this case. The mailbox should be deactivated if possible.

9 Communication with an PLC

FP gateways can communicate with a controller in two ways:

- The FP gateway speaks the language of your PLC. Technically: The **PLC driver** is integrated into the FP gateway.
- The PLC speaks the language of the FP gateway. Technically: The **FP driver** is loaded into the PLC.
- The FP gateway and the PLC speak a common language. Technically: The FP gateway and PLC use the **same protocol**, e.g. Modbus or text.

The following sections explain what you must pay attention to when connecting the various controller to the FP gateway.

9.1 PLC driver in the FP gateway

In order to enable communication between the corresponding programmable logic controller and the FP gateway, select the suitable driver or drivers for your PLC. Other PLC drivers are provided by FP InovoLabs as required and developed specifically for the customer.

PLC manufacturers	Series
Mitsubishi Electric	Alpha XL
	MELSEC FX1S/FX1N, FX2N/FX2NC, FX3U
Moeller / Eaton	EASY 400-800, MFD-Titan
	PS4 series, XC/XVC, Easy Control
	Easy E4 via Modbus TCP
Siemens	Simatic S7-200
	Simatic S7-300/400 via MPI interface
	Simatic S7-300/400, 1200, 1500 via LAN
	Logo! 8.X via Modbus TCP
VIPA	100V, 200V, 300V via GreenCable
	100V, 200V, 300V via MPI
Berthel	ModuCon via GreenCable
	ModuCon via MPI
ABB	AC010, CL range
	AC31
Saia Burgess	PCD1, PCD2, PCD3, PCS
Allen Bradley	PICO (series A + B, GFX)
Theben	Pharao2
Field bus standards	
Modbus	RTU (many controllers have a Modbus RTU option, e.g. ABB AC500)
(master & slave)	ASCII
	TCP (many controllers have a Modbus TCP option, e.g. Logo 8.X, Easy E4)
9.2 Mitsubishi Alpha XL

The FP gateway must be connected to the Alpha XL via a Mitsubishi GSM-CAB. Note the following information:

- In the Alpha XL, a program with activated "serial communication" must be present on 9600/8N1 (see the Alpha Programming Software online help). After activation, the Alpha must be restarted.
- The GSM-CAB can be connected directly to the FP gateway's RS232 interface (COM1).
- If you connect the GSM-CAB to the FP gateway's COM2, you must use a RED adapter between the device and the GSM-CAB.

The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the RED adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.3 Mitsubishi MELSEC FX

The FP gateway can be connected to the FX internal RS422 interface or via an additional RS232-BD / RS422-BD / RS485-BD interface expansion.

If you use a BD expansion, this interface must be activated using the GX Developer Software with the parameters 9600/7E1. Both interfaces can be used simultaneously, e.g. to connect an FP gateway and a display to the FX simultaneously.

The following illustration shows the connection options:





For information regarding the FP adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.4 Siemens Simatic S7-200 to RS485

The S7-200 can be connected to the RS422/485 interface via a PPI cable (RS232) or via a Profibus adapter.

The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the blue adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.5 Siemens Simatic S7-300/400 to MPI

The S7-300/400 can be connected to the MPI interface on an Hx671 via a Profibus adapter.

The following illustration shows the connection:



9.6 Siemens Simatic S7-300/400/1200 via LAN

The S7-300/400/1200 can be connected via the LAN connection on an Hx6xx. From the software side, communication is performed via the AGLink protocol.

TILA2 as of Version 2.6.0.26 is required for configuration.

9.7 SAIA Burgess S-bus

The FP gateway can be connected to the PCD2 on all three serial interfaces SO-S2. Only a 3-wire line (RX,TX,GND) is required.

Note the following information:

- If you connect the FP gateway to the PGU port (S0) on the PCD2, the DSR line is not permitted to be carried along, as the PCD2 would otherwise deactivate the S-BUS.
- If the FP gateway is connected to the RS232 (COM1) on the PCD2, the DTR line is not permitted to be carried along, as the S-BUS would otherwise be deactivated.

The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the red adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.8 Carel Macroplus

The Macroplus can be connected via an RS422-RS232 adapter or directly to an RS422 interface (only HM4x):



9.9 ABB AC010

The ABB AC010 is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via programming line "TK001" and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the ABB AC010 to the FP gateway's COM2, the "blue adapter" is not required.

The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the blue adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.10 Allen Bradley Pico GFX

The Allen Bradley Pico GFX is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via programming line "CBL-PC02" and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the Allen Bradley Pico GFX to the FP gateway's COM2, the "blue adapter" is not required.

The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the blue adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.11 Allen Bradley Pico Series A + B

The Allen Bradley Pico Series A + B is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via a serial cable and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the Allen Bradley Pico Series A + B to the FP gateway's COM2, the "blue adapter" is not required.

The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the blue adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.12 Berthel ModuCon

The Berthel ModuCon is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via the "GreenCable" programming line and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the Berthel ModuCon to the FP gateway's COM2, the "blue adapter" is not required.

The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the blue adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.13 Moeller Easy 400/500/600/700

The Moeller Easy 400/500/600/700 is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via the "EASY-PC-CAB" programming line and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the Moeller Easy 400/500/600/700 to the FP gateway's COM2, the "blue adapter" is not required. The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the blue adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.14 Moeller Easy 800/MFD

The Moeller Easy 800/MFD is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via the "EASY800-PC-CAB" programming line and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the Moeller Easy 800/MFD to the FP gateway's COM2, the "blue adapter" is not required. The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the blue adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.15 Moeller PS306/316, PS4-200 and PS4-300

The Moeller PS4 is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via the PRG port with programming cable "ZB4-303-KB1" and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the Moeller PS4 to the FP gateway's COM2, the "blue adapter" is not required.

The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the blue adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

9.16 VIPA

The VIPA is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via the "GreenCable" programming line and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the VIPA to the FP gateway's COM2, the "blue adapter" is not required.

The following illustration shows the connection options:



For information regarding the blue adapter, see section 11.5 in this manual.

The S7-compatible VIPA can also be connected to the MPI interface on an Hx671. For more information regarding this, see section 9.5 in this manual.

9.17 Moeller XC/XVC

The Moeller XC/XVC is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via the "ZB4-303-KB1" programming line and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the Moeller XC/XVC to the FP gateway's COM2 interface, the "blue adapter" is not required.



9.18 Moeller easy control

The Moeller easy control COM1 interface is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via the "EU4A-RJ45-CAB1" programming cable and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the Moeller easy control COM1 interface with the "EU4A-RJ45-CAB1" programming cable to the FP gateway's COM2 interface, the "blue adapter" is not required.

Alternatively, the Moeller easy control COM2 interface can be connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface via the "EASY800-PC-CAB" programming cable and a "blue adapter".

When connecting the Moeller easy control COM2 interface with the "EASY800-PC-CAB" programming cable to the FP gateway's COM2 interface, the "blue adapter" is not required.



10 Serial IP

10.1 Overview and description

The serial IP interface is implemented in all current FP gateways.

It enables IP data (sent via an Ethernet connection) to be translated into serial data. This translation enables devices that only have a serial interface to be controlled via any IP connection even if this device does not have its own IP interface.

10.1.1 Conventional serial connection

A serial connection (e.g. between a PLC and the configuration software) is basically simpler but does not enable remote access:



10.1.2 Connection via serial IP

If the FP gateway is used for this, there is a physical connection to a PLC in order to implement its configuration software via an IP connection, the layout is as follows:



This function is very easy to use but requires certain prerequisites:

- The FP gateway must be reachable via an IP connection, e.g. there must be an Ethernet connection and the device must have an IP.
- The FP gateway must be connected via a serial interface to the device that is to be reached remotely.
- The FP gateway must have a special configuration in the ISP database.

This section describes this configuration within the ISP database.

10.2 Serial IP configuration

We highly recommend acquiring basic knowledge regarding configuring an FP gateway before configuring the serial IP interface, as this section of the manual only covers the parameters that are directly related to the serial IP interface.

Detailed information regarding configuring an FP gateway is provided in the TiXML reference that can be downloaded from the downloads area on the FP InovoLabs website.

The serial IP interface is configured within the following database:

/ISP/SerialGateway

	Serial gateway
Syntax	<pre>[<setconfig _="ISP" ver="y"> <serialgateway> <virtualcomserver_1></virtualcomserver_1></serialgateway></setconfig></pre>
Description	Attribute group that defines the properties of the serial-to-IP gateway from the G6 range.

Elements	Port:	IP port on the FP gateway that receives the data to be converted. Note that the port must not be the same as that used to send commands to the FP gateway. (default: 23, range: 0-65535, no unit)
	MinSendBlockSize:	This optional parameter defines the minimum number of characters that the serial interface must receive before an IP data package is sent out. Note that this behaviour can be interrupted by the effects of the setting <i>CharTimeout</i> . This is described below. (default: 1500, range: 0-1500, no unit)
	MinReceiveBlockSize:	This optional parameter defines the minimum number of characters that the IP interface must receive before they are transferred to the serial interface. Note that this behaviour can be interrupted by the effects of the setting <i>ReceiveTimeout</i> . This is described below. (default: 1500, range: 0-1500, no unit)
	CharTimeout:	This optional parameter defines the time that may elapse between two successive characters that come from the serial interface. If this time is exceeded, the previously collected characters are sent as IP packages without considering whether MinSendBlockSize was met or not. (default: 100ms, range: 0ms-1073741823ms 0s-1073740s 0m-17894m 0h-297h)
	ReceiveTimeout:	This parameter defines how long the device will wait for the quantity of characters that was defined in the <i>MinReceiveBlockSize</i> parameter. (default: 100ms, range: 0ms-1073741823ms 0s-1073740s 0m-17894m 0h-297h)
	COMPort:	This defines which COM port is used for the FP gateway's serial connection. The quantity and selection of COM ports depends on the interfaces of the FP gateway that is used.
	Behaviour:	This setting controls the behaviour of the VirtualSerialCOMPortServer. It comprises a list of options that are separated by commas and that are described below:
	MessageConnect	If activated, a CONNECT messages is sent to the IP port as soon as the serial port is available. If deactivated (default setting), no message is sent as soon as the COM port is available.

NoNVTNeg	If activated, transmission of the Telnet options is suppressed; however, transmissions are accepted from the serial port but this depends on the circumstances. If deactivated, even Telnet connections are transmitted. This option is only active if <i>ControlMode</i> is set to "NVT" as described below.
ConnectTimeout:	This function sets the time for which the IP port waits until the serial port opens before the session is closed. (default: 100ms, range: 0ms-1073741823ms 0s-1073740s 0m-17894m 0h-297h)
ControlMode:	This parameter sets the operating mode for the VirtualCOMServer:
NVT	The VirtualCOMServer works as a virtual network terminal and the COM port settings can be set dynamically by the serial port. Furthermore, modem and line changes can be transmitted.
none	The COM port settings ate used as configured and TELNET commands that apply to the settings are ignored.
InactivityTimeout:	• Defines the time that must elapse between transmission of two successive characters before the VirtualCOMServer closes the connection to the virtual serial port.
COMSettings:	This (optional) parameter defines the COM port's configuration mode.
dynamic	This default value starts the COM port with the default settings within this group. The virtual serial port can overwrite these settings with other settings.
fix	The COM port is started with the default settings within this group. The virtual serial port cannot overwrite these settings with other settings.
Baudrate:	This setting only sets the baud rate that is used on the FP gateway's COM port in bits per second (bps or baud). (default: 115200, range: 300, 600, 1200, 2400, 4800, 9600, 19200, 38400, 115200)
Format:	Defines the data format on the COM port. The syntax is the same as for each COM port configuration and is divided into three parts:
DatabitsPar	<pre>ritybitStopbits that are explained as follows: Data bits: 8 (8 data bits), 7 (7 data bits) Parity bit: N (none), E (even), O (odd) Stop bits: 1 (one stop bit), 2 (two stop bits) The default is 8N1.</pre>
Handshake:	his optional parameter defines the handshake type, which is "none" by default:
None	No handshake (default)
XONXOFF	Software handshake
XONXOFF	YASS Software handshake, XONXOFF forwarded to the application

	RTSCTS DTRDSR HALF FULL HALFX FULLX noDTR RTSDTRPower	Hardware handshake with RTS/CTS Hardware handshake with DTR/DSR Half-duplex RS485 communication Full-duplex RS485 communication Half-duplex RS485 communication with XON/XOFF Full-duplex RS485 communication with XON/XOFF Deactivates DTR Reciprocal activation of RTS and DTR for the bus power supply
Example	<pre><setconfig _="ISP' <SerialGateway></th><th>ver=" y"=""> Server_1> "23" /> BlockSize ="100" /></setconfig></pre>	
	<chartim< th=""><th>eout _="10ms" /></th></chartim<>	eout _="10ms" />
	<minrece< th=""><th>iveBlockSize ="100" /></th></minrece<>	iveBlockSize ="100" />
	<receive <control< th=""><th>Mode ="none"/></th></control<></receive 	Mode ="none"/>
	<inactiv< th=""><th>ityTimeout ="1m"/></th></inactiv<>	ityTimeout ="1m"/>
	<comport< th=""><th>="COM2" /></th></comport<>	="COM2" />
	<behavio< th=""><th>ur ="" /></th></behavio<>	ur ="" />
	<connect< th=""><th>Timeout _="5s" /></th></connect<>	Timeout _="5s" />
	<comsett< th=""><th>ings _="fix"></th></comsett<>	ings _="fix">
	<bauc< th=""><th>drate _="115200"/></th></bauc<>	drate _="115200"/>
	<forr< th=""><th>nat _="8E1"/></th></forr<>	nat _="8E1"/>
	<hano< th=""><th>lshake _="RTSCTS"/></th></hano<>	lshake _="RTSCTS"/>
	<th>tings></th>	tings>
	<th>AServer_1></th>	AServer_1>
	<th>></th>	>
]	

10.3 Configuring Ethernet

In order to act as an interface between the serial and IP port, an IP address must be assigned to the FP gateway. This is done in the ISP database in the Ethernet section:

/ISP/Ethernet

	Ethernet configuration						
Syntax	<pre><ethernet _="keep"></ethernet></pre>						
Description	Defines the FP gateway's TCP/IP settings.						
Elements	keep Setting to activate a fixed IP configuration that is written to EEProm. persistent: Keep the configuration in EEProm empty: Forget the configuration IP address Either the static IP address in dotted quadruple format or the "DHCP" string to activate the Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol. Subnetmask Subnet mask for the FP gateway. Can be omitted if DHCP is activated.						

GW address

Gateway IP address for the next router. Can be omitted if the DHCP server provides this information.

DNS address

IP address for the DNS server. Can be omitted if the DHCP server provides this information.

Permanent IP configuration for a private CLASS-C /24 network with a WAN router on the IP

Host

DHCP option 12 that is used for DDNS registration.



10.4 Application examples

Some applications may require special configurations. These special cases and the corresponding database configuration are documented in this section for your benefit.

10.4.1 Connection with pcAnywhere[™] via virtual serial port

This function comprises two components: a virtual serial interface (VSP = virtual serial port) on the remote system and a serial gateway on the host system, which provides a virtual COM port IP service on the remote FP gateway.

Basic approach:



A virtual serial interface (VSP) is provided on the remote side. This is used by pcAnywhere to access a remote PC via a direct serial connection.

The remote PC (host system) is connected to the FP gateway's COM1 interface.

The local virtual interface (VSP) packs the serial data into IP data and sends these to the FP gateway. The FP gateway's serial IP service unpacks the IP data into serial data.

The exact settings for the serial gateway database look as follows:

```
[<SetConfig ="ISP" ver="y">
       <SerialGateway>
          <VirtualCOMServer 1>
             <Port ="23"/>
             <MinSendBlockSize ="1500"/>
              <CharTimeout ="Oms"/>
              <MinReceiveBlockSize ="1500"/>
              <ReceiveTimeout ="Oms"/>
              <ControlMode ="none"/>
              <COMPort ="COM1"/>
              <Behaviour ="MessageConnect"/>
              <ConnectTimeout ="5s"/>
              <COMSettings ="fix">
                 <Baudrate ="115200"/>
                 <Format ="8N1"/>
                 <Handshake ="RTSCTS"/>
              </COMSettings>
          </VirtualCOMServer 1>
       </SerialGateway>
</SetConfig>]
```

10.4.1.1 pcAnywhere [™]- settings

The following settings must be made on the host side and on the pcAnywhere remote station.

Hosts:

end bedrefer winder end bedrefer winder Stande	B Symantec pcAnywhere						
isme ymanter pCAnywhere: Cole auf Basienicki Code auf Basienicki Cod		e					
Avaidation Image: Standard St	Home						
Anich Cabe zur Besisanich Cehe zur Besisanich Schneidwinding	Symantec pcAnywh	ere. 😐				Sym -	antec.
Gebe zur Basisasicht Color zur Basisasicht Immerkungen Scheid verträufung und verzu- Scheid verbrückning und verzu- Scheid verzule verzul	Ansicht (2) 🖸	🗄 🔳 🔍 C:\Dokumente und Einstellungen	All Users\Anwendungsdaten	Symantec\pcAnywhere\l	Hosts		
Convertiend Manager Convertiend of the service of t	🗉 Gehe zur Basisansicht	Hosts					
Periods Schellevinding	pcAnywhere-Manager (2)	Name Gerät Versch	lüsselungsstufe nme	erkungen			
	🖾 Remotes	Direct COM1 <keine< td=""><td>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></keine<>	>				
Stehets Providen Verbindungsinformatoren Pohywhere Tools Verbindungsinformatoren Pohywhere Tools Pohywhere Tools	Schnellverbindung	Modem Actiontec MD < Keine Network, Cable, DSI TCP/IP < Keine	>				
Advander Heinzer Verbindungsanformationen Einstellungen Verbindungsanformationen Verbindungsanformatin Verbindungsanformationen Verbindungsanformationen Ve	Schnellverteilung und -ver	Figenschaften Host-PC: Direct	•			X	
Verbad Verbad Bedehksverbeschlangen Dochwyherer-Tools Opchwyherer-Tools Opchwyherer-Tools Seriennumen Waten See bis zu zwei Geräte für dieses Verbindungsobjekt. Inder Sie auf die Kastchen links von den Gerätename ist. ischen. Seriennumen Waten See bis zu zwei Geräte für dieses Verbindungsobjekt. Inder Sie auf die Kastchen links von den Gerätename ist. ischen. Seriennumen Waten See bis zu zwei Geräte für dieses Verbindungsobjekt. Inder Sie auf die Kastchen links von den Gerätename ist. ischen. Steiennumen Waten See bis zu zwei Geräte für dieses Verbindungsobjekt. Inder Sie auf die Kastchen links von den Gerätelsiste Details. Detai	Eavoriten			, ,	T 1		
Berdehlsverbeschlongen PochsywhererTods Optionsgruppen Steriennummen Weinzei Aktiones Verbindungsobjekt, indem Sie auf die Kästchen links von den Gerätenamen lucken. Um ein Gerätenamen lucken Sie auf den Gerätenamen und anschließend auf "Details". Geräteniste Locken Eitigenschaften Aktiones Verzichnis unte. Neuer Ordner Details De	🚱 Verlauf	Verbindungsinformationen Einstellungen	Anrufer Sicherheitsoptionen	Verschlüsselung Konfe	erenz Anmerkungen Objekt	schützen	
Co-Management Cols Co-Management Col	🕞 Befehlswarteschlangen		dieses Verbindungsobjekt, ind	dem Sie auf die Kästchen	links von den		
Consider Subsections Constructions Seriennummern Constructions Vectoring Constructions Eigenschaften Actoritec MDC AC'97 Modem v21220 Constructions Constructions Autualisieren Sistemunitieren Autualisieren Sistemunitieren Autualisieren Sistemunitieren Autualisieren OK Autualisieren Constructions Order Constructions State OK Abulaiseren Mit eine zubalisieren Autualisieren Autualisieren Okale Constructions Signa Constructions	🛃 pcAnywhere-Tools	Gerätenamen klicken.	Sie auf den Gerätenamen und	anechlioßond auf "Detail	e*		
We determine the two one Image: Construction of the Construc	Sorionnummern	On ein Gerat einzunchten, klickei	role auruen deratenamen und	a anschliebend aur Detail	a.		
Hardingen Hardingen Locken Eigenschafte Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Aktuelsieren Neerbordner Dieck COM1: Iokaler Com-Port des Host-PCS welcher über RS232 mit dem TAM verbunden ist OK Abbrechen OK Abbrechen Abbrechen OK Abbrechen OK		Geräteliste:					
Mindugen Gom	Aktionen 😮	Actiontec MDC AC'97 Modem v2122D	Details	_			
Eigenschaften Aubdisieren Austicker Austerichten Berais COM1 Detais Bevorugte Verbindungseinstellungen Ubertragungsrate: ISDN über CAPI 20 COM1: Bevorugte Verbindungseinstellungen Obertragungsrate: ISDN über CAPI 20 COM1: Bevorugte Verbindungseinstellungen Werbindungseinstellungen Werbindungseinstellungen Outer anderen Computer verbinden. Periode-Podresse oder Computer Bertragungsrate: Immer verbunden Immer verbunden Ende durch: Immer verbunden Immer verbunden OK Abbrechen: OK Abbrechen: OK Abbrechen: OK Abbrechen: OK Abbrechen: Usersteristeringen OK Abbrechen: OK Abbrechen: OK Abbrechen: OK Abbrechen: OK Abbrechen: OK Abbrechen: OK Bertragen Detais Deta	X Löschen			r			
Advabiliseren Ansteinen Andreite SPX Ansteine Ansteinen Ansteinen Ausdeiles Verbindungsmeihode Auf eingehende Verbindungsmeihode Partiat -Keines Detents Detents Oktater Auf eingehende Verbindungsmeihode Partiat -Keines Detents Detents Detents Mit enderen Computerverbinder Resourceste eingehende Verbindungsmeihode Start durch: Immer verbunden Mitter Verbindung OK Abbre OK Abbre OK Abbre	😭 Eigenschaften	COM3			COM1		
Abduelle Vorzeichnis unte. Auseigos Abduelle Vorzeichnis unte Auseigos Direct DCAM, Waren Polymythere: 2013grange-Ser Austeigo Vorzeichnis unte Direct Dorwythere-Host Geret COM Och Auf eingehende Vorzinkung warten Breister Beworzugte Verbindungseinstellungen Obertragungsrate: Is 200 Seriet COM COM1: Iokaler Com-Port des Ordentragungsrate: Is 200 Bereit Com, Werschlüsselungen Werschlüsselungen Werschlüsselungen Werschlüsselungen Werschlüsselungen Werschlüsselungen: OKM andigenzerversimter: Bemotes/P-Adresse oder Computer Datenflüsseluerung RTS/CTS OK Abbre OK Abbre OK	Aktualisieren		-Verbindungsmel	thode	Details		
A Addelies Verzichne werken Newer Ordner Deteils COM1: Iokaler Com-Port des Host-PCs welcher über RS232 mit dem TAM verbunden ist OK Abbre OK Abbre	Host starten	□ NetBIOS	verbindungsmei	inoue			
Other COM1: breats CoM1: breats Dison data CAP20 CoM1: lokaler Com-Port des breats Densio Densio Densio Densio Densio Densio Densio Densio Mitenderen Compiterverbinder Resultiverbunden ist Mitenderen Compiterverbinder Resultiverbunden ist Mitenderen Compiterverbinder OK Abbre OK Abbre	Aktuelles Verzeichnis unte		 Auf eingehei 	nde Verbindung warten	Bevorzugte Verbindungs	einstellungen	
Werden COM1: IocAler Com-Port des CoAnverse-Host Operation Gerät COM Direct Verschlüssebungsster «K. Mit miderem Computer versimiter: Mit miderem Computer versimiter: Partiat Verschlüssebungsster «K. Mit miderem Computer versimiter: Bemiet-PAdresse oder Computer Start durch: Immer verbunden ist Mit miderem Computer versimiter: OK Abbre		LI ISDIN UDBI CAPIZ.0			Übertragungsrate:	115,200	
Mited Series Site	Details (2)	COM1 [.]	🔿 An einen po	Anywhere-Zugengs-Ser	Devitite		
Geräc COMI Verschlisselungsstufe: <k- Anmerkungen: Host-PCs welcher über RS232 mit dem TAM verbunden ist Mit and eren Computer verbinden: Pemple-P-Adresse oder Computer Datenflusssteuerung: RTS/CTS V Stant durch: Immer verbunden V Immer verbunden V OK Abbre OK Abbre</k- 	pcAnywhere-Host	lokaler Com-Port des	Details.		mantai.	Keines	
Anmerkungen: RS232 mit dem TAM verbunden ist Mtenderem Computer verbunden BematelPAdresse oder Computer Statt durch: OK Abbre OK Abbre	Gerät COM1 Verschlüsselungsstufe: <k< td=""><td>Host-PCs welcher über</td><td></td><td></td><td>Datenflusssteuerung:</td><td>RTS/CTS</td><td>-</td></k<>	Host-PCs welcher über			Datenflusssteuerung:	RTS/CTS	-
verbunden ist Permeter Poddrese oder Computer OK Abbre OK Abbre	Anmerkungen:	RS232 mit dem TAM	🔿 Mit anderem	Computer verbinden:	Ctart durch:	Immeruedunden	
OK Abbrechen Ubernermen Hilfe		verbunden ist	Remote-IP-2	Adresse oder Computer	Statt durch.	Immer verbunden	
OK Abbre					Ende durch:	Immer verbunden	-
OK Abbrechen Obernerimen Hilfe							
OK Abbre OK Abbre							
OK Abbre OK Abbre							
OK Abbre OK Abbrechen Obernerimen Hilfe							
OK Abbrechen Uberneimen Hilfe				01/ 455-			
OK Abbrechen Ubernermen Hilfe				Abbre			
OK Abbrechen Operationen Hilfe							
OK Abbrechen Überneimen Hilfe							
					ОК	Abbrechen Übernehme	m Hilfe

Remote stations:



10.4.1.2 Virtual serial port settings for pcAnywhere™

The following settings must be made in the VSP (HW-Group).



IP address:

IP address for the FP gateway

Port:

Port for the FP gateway

Port name:

Virtual port that is used by the pcAnywhere remote stations.

10.4.2 Connection to a SAIA PCD2™

One of the excellent functions of serial IP is the ability to "drill out" the conventional serial connection between a PLC and its control software by adding an IP component. It can do this for virtually unlimited cable lengths as long as they match the physical limitations of a classic RS232 cable.

In the system, the SAIA[™] PLC is only connected serially to the FP gateway so that a complete computer system no longer has to be on-site. The FP gateway connects via IP to the virtual serial port (third-party PC software) in the control station that is then connected to the PLC's control software:



The hardware connection between the SAIA[™] PCD2 and the FP gateway's COM2 port is established via a standard serial cable (1:1) in conjunction with an FP red adapter (between the cable and the FP gateway).

Alternatively, you can also connect the controller to the FP gateway using the SAIA programming cable (available from SAIA), whereby no adapter is required. For the connection between the FP gateway and the SAIA controller, either use PGU mode or S-bus.

The SAIA programming cable can be ordered from SAIA, while the red adapter is available from FP InovoLabs.

10.4.2.1 Virtual serial port settings

There are various software solutions that enable Pc-controlled translation between serial and IP data. You can of course use the product of your choice, but we recommend the *HW-Group VSP*. This was tested by us, works and can be downloaded for free from:

http://www.hw-group.com

In addition to the number of virtual COM ports and IPs, as well as port numbers, no special settings are required.

10.4.2.2 SAIA control software settings: PGU mode

Not many parameters have to be set in the SAIA control software. If the FP gateway is connected to the SAIA[™] PGU interface, the "Online Settings" screen should look as follows:

Online Settings		X
Channel <u>N</u> ame: PGU COM11, PGU, 9600	Set <u>up</u>	OK Cancel
Connection <u>C</u> PU Number: 0	Don't Close:	Help

Furthermore, click the Setup button on the screen to open the Channels screen that looks as shown below:

늘 Channels	<
PGU	
PGU Protocol	
Port: COM1	
Baudrate: 9600	
Protocol: P800	
	L
	L
	L
UK Abbrechen Hilte	

(i)

Note

You must set the "Port" to the port number that is provided by the virtual serial port.

10.4.2.3 SAIA control software settings: S-bus mode

If you connect the SAIA PCD2 to the FP gateway via the S-bus, the only important setting has to be made in the SAIA control software.

The "Online Settings" screen should look as follows:

Online Settings	×
Channel Setup Setup	OK Cancel
Connection <u>C</u> PU Number: 0 S-BUS <u>S</u> tation: 2 ✓ ▲uto Number of <u>r</u> etries: 3On't Close: □	Help

Furthermore, click the Setup button on the screen to open the Channels screen that must be set up as shown below:

늘 Channels	×
S-BUS	
S-BUS Protocol Port: COM1 C Baudrate: 9600 C Baudrate: 9600 C Bigeak	
S-BUS Timing	
Training <u>S</u> equence delay (TS): 0 ms	
Turnaround delay (TN): 1 ms	
Response timeout: 250 ms	
Break length: 4 chars	
Defaults UART <u>F</u> ifo len: 0 chars	
OK Abbrechen Hilfe	



Note

You must set the "Port" to the port number that is provided by the virtual serial port.

10.4.2.4 Serial IP settings

Within the FP gateway, the SerialGateway database should look as follows regardless of whether a PGU or S-bus connection is used:

```
[<SetConfig ="ISP" ver="y">
   <SerialGateway>
       <VirtualCOMServer 1>
          <Port ="8402" />
          <MinSendBlockSize ="1280"/>
          <CharTimeout ="1ms"/>
          <MinReceiveBlockSize ="1280"/>
          <ReceiveTimeout ="1ms" />
          <COMPort _="COM2"/>
          <Behaviour =""/>
          <ConnectTimeout ="5s"/>
          <ControlMode ="NVT"/>
          <InactivityTimeout _="1m"/>
          <COMSettings _="dynamic">
              <Baudrate _= "9600"/>
              <Format = "8N1"/>
             <Handshake _="none"/>
          </COMSettings>
       </VirtualCOMServer_1>
   </SerialGateway>
</SetConfig>]
```

As with the *pcAnywhere*[™] example, the relevant parameters are the following:

<Port _="8402"/>

This is the IP port to which the virtual serial port must connect. You can fill this with any permitted number as long as you do not use the TiXML control port 8300.

<COMPort _="COM2"/>

This designates the FP gateway COM port to which the SAIA PCD2 is connected.

10.4.3 Connection to M-bus

10.4.3.1 Virtual serial port settings



10.4.3.2 M-bus software settings

M-Bus S	heet V2.0 [Demo-Ve	ersion							_		×
Einbauort	Adresse	ID	Baud	Herst.	Version	Medium	Datensätze	COM port	Zähler: 0	<u>C</u> OM-port:	COM5	•
									Such- □ GSM-	Baudrate(n): •Modem (8N1)	2400	•
									☐ S <u>N</u> D_NKE ☐ M <u>u</u> lti Tel. ☐ App <u>.</u> Res.	Suche <u>A</u> d Suche <u>I</u> D	r.	<u>S</u> top
									Zeitintervall [s] 5	M-Bus <u>L</u> ese M-Bus <u>P</u> olle	en	
<								>	Status:	M-Bus Logo	jen 🛓	<u>1</u> odem
Drucke Zähle	erliste	ichere Zá	ählerliste	Lade Zäł	hlerliste	Duplikate li	ischen 🔶 C	SV Trennz.		🔲 Sc <u>h</u> reibe [Daten 🗖	IDS+ MDK
Einbauort	Datum	Zeit	Adresse	ID-Nr.	Herst.	Nr.	Wert Einheit	Beschr	eibung Art	Modul	SP-Nr.	Tarif
<												>
Drucke Dat	en Si	ichere Da	iten	Lade Dater	Lös	che Daten	Import	Rej	gistrieren	Zoom <u>D</u> ate	en	
										Lösche Lo	9	
												//

10.4.3.3 Serial IP settings

```
[<SetConfig ="ISP" ver="y">
    <SerialGateway>
        <VirtualCOMServer 1>
           <Port _="23" />
           <RestrictionStartIP ="0" />
           <RestrictionEndIP _="0" />
           <MinSendBlockSize ="1500" />
           <CharTimeout ="1ms" />
           <MinReceiveBlockSize ="1500" />
           <ReceiveTimeout ="1ms" />
           <ControlMode ="NVT"/>
           <InactivityTimeout ="1m"/>
           <COMPort _="COM3" />
           <Behaviour _="" />
           <ConnectTimeout ="5s" />
           <COMSettings _="dynamic">
              <Baudrate _="2400"/>
              <Format _="8E1"/>
              <Handshake ="None"/>
           </COMSettings>
        </VirtualCOMServer 1>
     </SerialGateway>
</SetConfig>]
```

10.4.4 Connection to the Modbus RTU

10.4.4.1 Virtual serial port settings

Please configure the HW-Group driver as follows (IP address / port may differ from your configuration).

Ensure that NVT is definitely deactivated!

IP address:

IP address for the FP gateway

Port:

FP gateway port as set in VirtualCOMServer_1/Port

Port name:

Virtual port that is used by the Modbus RTU software (e.g. COM3)

10.4.4.2 Serial IP settings

Within the FP gateway, the SerialGateway database should look as follows (baud rate, format and handshake settings may differ from your configuration):

```
[<SetConfig _="ISP" ver="y">
<SerialGateway>
   <VirtualCOMServer_1>
      <Port _="8402" />
      <MinSendBlockSize ="1500"/>
      <CharTimeout ="1ms"/>
      <MinReceiveBlockSize ="1500"/>
      <ReceiveTimeout ="1ms" />
      <COMPort ="COM2"/>
      <Behaviour =""/>
      <ConnectTimeout ="5s"/>
      <ControlMode ="none"/>
      <InactivityTimeout _="1m"/>
      <COMSettings _="fix">
         <Baudrate ="19200"/>
         <Format ="8N1"/>
         <Handshake _="HALF"/>
      </COMSettings>
   </VirtualCOMServer 1>
</SerialGateway>
</SetConfig>]
```

10.5 Additional remarks

If you have any problems with FP gateway connections, please inform us of these. Please send an e-mail to: <u>tixi-support@inovolabs.com</u>

In this way, we can rectify problems quickly and adjust our device to improve your user experience.

11 Appendix

11.1 Technical data for the FP S-OTGuard series

11.1.1 Main functions

Main functions	
Alarm and fault indicator	Automatic generation and sending of fault messages from message templates and current values (from PLC or Gateway). Actions can trigger up to 100 definable events depending on the time requirements. Address book: max. 100 addresses. 100 message texts, 100 alarms
Acknowledgement	Acknowledgement option for alarms and triggering of alarm chains if the acknowledgement does not arrive within a set time. Acknowledgement via SMS or e-mail possible.
Alarm chain	Multiple levels of alarm actions and receivers if alarm messages are not acknowledged in time. Alarm actions can be sending an SMS, e-mails or switching actions for example.
Event	Event, e.g.: Error, PLC communication interrupted, acknowledgement of an alarm. All actions in the gateway are triggered by events.
SMS	Sending and receiving of SMS
E-mail	Sending and receiving of e-mail (SMTP)
Remote switching	Remote switching of the variable values of the connected controller by sending switching commands as SMS or e-mail to the Gateway. Password protection
Remote maintenance	Configuration of the Gateway and the connected PLC via an existing IP connection.
Security	Local and remote configuration can be protected using access rights.
Web server	Integrated web server for local access to web applications (e.g. for commissioning)
PLC protocols	More than 30 integrated PLC and field bus protocols; direct access to PLC data points (read/write), e.g. Siemens, ABB, Mitsubishi, Moeller/Eaton, Allen-Bradley, Schneider, VIPA, etc.
Counter protocols	Many integrated field bus protocols, e.g. Modbus, M-Bus, EN 61107, 1-Wire, Aurora, wMBus via optional FP wMBus adapter,
EDGE functions	Extensive data handling functions (EGDE computing) integrated by users in a freely programmable way, e.g. logical links, thresholding
Data logging	Large integrated log memory (power failure fail-safe due to flash memory) Up to 100 MB of log memory available for user data; up to 100 log files definable
Cloud protocols	Cloud protocols integrated from notable Cloud providers incl. Cloud command channel -> Gateway e.g. Deutsche Telekom CoT, Cumulocity, AWS, Juconn, generic MQTT
Security Protocols	TLS 1.2, VPN, your own certificates and keys can be configured FTP, SFTP, SMTP, POP3, SMS, MQTT, http, https, telnet and more

11.1.2 System architecture

System architecture	
CPU	400 MHz, ARM9, ATMEL SAM9-G25
RAM / Flash	128 MB DDR2-RAM / 128 MB on-board
System clock (Battery-backed)	For logging of events, e.g.: Error, incoming call, PLC or cloud communication interrupted, acknowledgement of an alarm

11.1.3 Interfaces

Serial interfaces	
COM1 RS232	D-Sub 9, DCE socket / H651 + H653: D-Sub 9, plug, DTE max. 230,400 bps, ITU-T V.24, V.28, hardware handshake. Signals: DTR, DSR, RTS, CTS, DCD, GND, RI, RxD, TxD Transmission distance: 12 m
COM2 RS232	D-Sub 9, plug, DTE, FIFO 16550, otherwise like COM1
COM2 RS485	In accordance with EIA/TIA-485, 3- or 5-pin screw connection max 230 kbit/s, not galvanically isolated integrated termination, switchable via DIP switches transmission distance max. 1200 m depending on transmission rate, bus and cable type
COM3 M-Bus	Conformity: DIN EN 13757-2, DIN EN 13757-3
	M-bus master for up to 100 end devices (meters) short-circuit proof, galvanically isolated 1500 V M-bus voltage: 36 V, bus length: max. 1000 m (3 281 ft) 3 screw terminals, grid dimension 3.81 mm (0.15"), cross-section max. 1.5 mm ² (AWG 16),
	Data rate: 300 Baud - 19200 Baud data formats: 8 data bits, 1 start bit, 1 stop bit and 1 parity bit (even parity)

USB 2.0 Host	
1x USB Host	For USB devices such as USB memory sticks, WiFi sticks, etc.

Digital inputs	
Digital inputs	Can be switched via potential-free contacts or digital signals, not galvanically isolated All models: max. 5 V; H651 / H653: max. 24V
Digital outputs	
All models:	Max. voltage: 48 V, 120 mA
Relay	
All models:	Potential free, 230 V AC 3A or 110 V DC 0.3 A
Analogue inputs	
All models:	0 - 10 V DC, resolution: 12 Bit

11.1.4 Ethernet connection

Ethernet connection		
Connection	10/100 Base-T IEEE 8	802.3, RJ45 port (8P8C with 2 LEDs), shielded
Operating mode	Auto negotiation, Au	ito MDI-X (crossover cable not required)
Status LEDs	Flashing green Yellow off Yellow on	Data is being transferred 10 Base-T 100 Base-T
Galvanic isolation	1500 V (V _{rms} min.)	

11.1.5 WiFi stick (optional)

WiFi stick (only for models H651, H653)		
WiFi	USB stick model "90.0072.8100.00"	
Wireless type	IEEE 802.11b/g/n WPS (WiFi Protected Setup)	
Frequency	1T1R 2.4 GHz	
Data rates	IEEE 802.11b: 11 MBit/s max. IEEE 802.11g: 54 MBit/s max. IEEE 802.11n: 150 MBit/s max.	
Network modes	Ad-hoc, infrastructure	
Encryption	WEP-64, WEP-128, TKIP, WPA2	
Antenna connection	Internal	
Temperature range	0 - 40 °C (32 - 104 °F)	

11.1.6 Operating elements

Operating elements	
Service buttons	Can be freely configured by the user via TiXML programming
Signal LED	Can be configured via TiXML (red/green flashing function, 32 patterns), e.g. "red = error" and "green = functioning properly"
Speakers	Mini speakers for audio signals; can be controlled using TiXML, e.g. continuous sound for alarm
System LEDs	Power, Process/Data out, LAN, Line, Mode, Active
Unmount button	For switching the WiFi subsystem on and off or for unloading (unmounting) an SD memory card

11.1.7 SD memory cards

SD memory cards		
All FP top-hat rail gateways have a card reader for SD memory cards with a capacity of up to max. 32 GB.		
Active LED	green: SD card active red: read or write process active	
Unmount button	Before removing the SD card, ALWAYS press the unmount button first for <= 1 second and wait until the "Active LED" extinguishes	
Batch mode	A TiXML configuration can be brought into the device via the SD card and system diagnostic data can be saved on the SD card (e.g. configuration, log data, etc.)	
Memory card type	All SD memory cards up to max. 32 GB (SD and SDHC)	

11.1.8 Mobile communications modem (model-dependent)

GSM/GPRS/LTE Cat.I	NB1/LTE Cat.M1: (2G, 4G IoT)	NBP model (only available as HN651-P)
Frequencies	2G: Quad Band 850/900/1800/1900 M LTE: B1, B2, B3, B4, B5, B8, B12, B13, B	IHz 318, B19, B20, B26, B28, B39
EDGE features	Multi-Slot Class 33, Coding Schemes M	ICS 1-9
GPRS features	Multi-Slot Class 33, Coding Schemes C	S 1-4
GSM features	Call Forwarding, Call Barring, Multipart Of Charge, USSD, Closed User Group	ty, Call Waiting, Call Hold, Calling Line Identity, Advice
Antenna	SMA socket (female), coaxial, impedanOutput:2 W at 850/900 MHz, 1	ice 50 Ω W at 1800/1900 MHz
Data transmission	GPRS: Downlink: 107 kbps, Uplink: EDGE: Downlink: 296 kbps, Uplink: Transmission power: max. 2 W	85.6 kbps 236.8 kbps
GNSS	Positioning. 2nd antenna required. Pro	otocols: GPS, Baidou, GLONASS, Galileo

UMTS/HSPA+: (2G,	3G) NB model
Frequencies	Dual-mode UMTS (WCDMA) / HSDPA / EDGE / GPRS operation Dual Band 900 / 1800 MHz; UMTS Band 1 (2100 MHz), Band 8 (900 MHz)
EDGE features	Multi-Slot Class 12, E-GPRS Mobile Station Class B, Coding Schemes MCS 1-9; up to 236.8 kbps DL
GPRS features	Multi-Slot Class 12, GPRS Mobile Station Class B, Coding Schemes CS 1-4; up to 85.6 kbps DL/UL
UMTS features	UMTS Terrestrial Radio Access (UTRA) HSDPA category 8
GSM features	Call Forwarding, Call Barring, Multiparty, Call Waiting, Call Hold, Calling Line Identity, Advice Of Charge, USSD, Closed User Group
Antenna	FME socket (male), coaxial, impedance 50 Ω
Data transmission	GSM:CSD up to 9.6 kbps DL/ULGPRS:max. Downlink: 85.6 kbps, max. Uplink: 85.6 kbpsEDGE:max. Downlink: 236.8 kbps, max. Uplink: 70.4 kbpsUMTS:max. Downlink: 384 kbps, max. Uplink: 384 kbpsHSDPA:category 8: max. 7.2 Mbps DL (peak rate)HSUPAcategory 6: 5.76 Mbps ULTransmission power:22 WGPRS/GSM/E-GSM @ 900 MHz 1 W GPRS/GSM/E-GSM @ 1800 MHz0.5 WEDGE/GSM/E-GSM @ 900 MHz 0.4 W EDGE/GSM/E-GSM @ 900 MHz0.25 WWCDMA/HSDPA/HSUPA @ 800/850/1900/2100 MHz

LTE: (4G) BB r	nodel
Frequencies	8-Band LTE (B1, B2, B3, B5, B7, B8, B20; all bands with diversity) Quad Band 3G (850, 900 1800, 1900 MHz)
	Quad Band 2G (850, 900 1800, 1900 MHz)
Antenna	FME socket (male), coaxial, impedance 50 Ω
Data transmission	WCDMA CS:Downlink: 64 kbps, Uplink: 64 kbpsGPRS:Downlink: 85.6 kbps, Uplink: 85.6 kbpsEDGE:Downlink: 236.8 kbps, Uplink: 236.8 kbpsWCDMA PS:Downlink: 384 kbps, Uplink: 384 kbpsHSPA+:Downlink: 21.6 Mbps, Uplink: 5.76 MbpsDC-HSPA+:Downlink: 43.2 Mbps, Uplink: 5.76 MbpsLTE FDD:Downlink: 150 Mbps, Uplink: 50 Mbps @ 20M BW cat4
	Transmission power: 2 W GSM-GPRS @ 850/900 MHz 1 W GSM-GPRS @ 1800/1900 MHz 0.5 W EGPRS @ 850/900 MHz 0.4 W EGPRS @ 1800/1900 MHz 0.25 W UMTS @ 850/900/1900/1950 MHz 0.2 W LTE @ 800/850/900/1700/1800/1900/1950/2100 MHz

11.1.9 Firmware

Firmware	
TECom	Tixi Embedded Communication System TECom TECom provides all basic functions which are required for close communication with controllers and remote communication in telephone networks, mobile wireless networks, LAN, Wi-Fi and IP based networks.
Operating system	Embedded Linux
File system	UBIFS: Log data and process variables remain in the event of a power failure (flash memory)
OEM functions	The firmware can be expanded for OEM customers, e.g. for: New control protocols, calculating or processing functions or web server functions.
Data security	Use of the industry standard libraries Open SSL (TLS 1.2) and OpenVPN

11.1.10 General data

Power supply	
Standard device	All devices: 10 - 30 V DC; max. 0.7 A Model H653: 18 - 30 V DC; max. 0.7 A 2 screw terminals; conductor cross section max. 2.5 mm ² (AWG 14)
Backup battery	CR2032 backup battery for RTC (real time clock), service life >= 10 years, replacement by the user not intended

Housing	
Installation	On standard 35 mm x 7.5 mm (1.4" x 0.3") top-hat rails in accordance with EN 50022, horizontal or vertical
Туре	FP H5-top-hat rail housing
OEM housing	Standard OEM H5-top-hat rail housing
Dimensions W x H x D	87.8 mm x 90 mm x 58 mm (3.46" × 3.54" × 2.28")
Weight	approx. 225 g (0.5 lb)

Conformity and use	
Conformity	2014/53/EU Radio Equipment Directive RED 2011/65/EU RoHS 2012/19/EU WEEE
Temperature range	Operation: -25 °C - +65 °C / -13 °F - 149 °F (except H653: -25 °C - +60 °C / -13 °F - 140 °F) Storage: -25 °C - +85 °C / -13 °F 185 °F
Permitted humidity	5 - 95 % relative humidity, non-condensing
Protection class	IP20
Degree of contamination	2
Mechanical strength	Vibration (Sinus) in accordance with IEC 60068-2-6, vibration (broadband) in accordance with IEC 60068-2-64 Shock in accordance with IEC 60068-2-27
Electromagnetic compatibility	Class A Warning: In a residential environment this equipment may cause radio interference.

11.2 Operation with an SD card

The FP Gateways have an SD card slot. Use this with an SD or MMC card with a maximum of 32 GB of memory, which must first be formatted using Windows (FAT or FAT32).

In order to insert an SD card into the device, push it into the designated slot with the contacts at the front and the label pointing upwards. In order to remove it, press the card located in the device in slightly further; this releases it and pushes it out of the slot.

If a memory card is inserted into the device when it has been started, this is detected automatically.

Before removing the card, press the "Unmount" button for a maximum of 1 seconds and wait until all read and write processes are complete. This is the case as soon as the Active LED extinguishes.

11.3 GNSS localization function (only available in some models)

Some FP gateways like the FP S-OTGuard HN651-P support a GNSS localization function (satellite based) which is often called "GPS function".

The datasheet shows a list of all supported GNSS protocols (e.g. GPS, GLONASS, Galileo, Baidou).

In order to use the GNSS location function the following requirements must be met:

- 1. Use of a secondary GNSS antenna in order to receive the satellite data
- 2. The GNSS-antenna must have a clear view of the sky so that the satellite signals can be received.



GNSS localization is usually not possible in buildings and basements !

The GNSS localization function is switched on at the factory and after a factory reset. It can be configured via TiXML parameters in the USER/USER database.

The following parameters are available:

GNSSInterval	specifies the refresh rate (default = 60s)
GNSSOff	switches GNSS on or off (default= ON)
GNSSConf	controls which GNSS satellite data should be used (default = all)

Example USER database:

```
[<SetConfig ="USER" ver="y">
 <USER>
   <InitString0 ="ATX3M1L1"/>
   <TimeZone ="+0000"/>
   <RedialDelay _="120s"/>
   <DialTimeout ="90s"/>
   <MaxDialAttempts ="4"/>
   <RingCounter _="1"/>
   <Pin1 _=""/>
<GPRS _="On"/>
   <!-- GNSSInterval: GNSS refresh rate in seconds
        default = 60; min value: 1; max value: 3600 (1 hour) -->
   <GNSSInterval ="10"/>
   <!-- GNSSOff: switches GNSS on and off
        default = Off; switch GNSS off: On -->
   <GNSSOff ="Off"/>
   <!-- GNSSConf: select which GNSS satellite data should be used
        deafult = 1 (all data)
        0 = GLONASS OFF / BeiDou OFF / Galileo OFF
        1 = GLONASS ON / BeiDou ON / Galileo ON
                                                    (default)
        2 = GLONASS ON / BeiDou ON / Galileo OFF
        3 = GLONASS ON / BeiDou OFF / Galileo ON
        4 = GLONASS ON / BeiDou OFF / Galileo OFF
        5 = GLONASS OFF / BeiDou ON / Galileo ON
        6 = GLONASS OFF / BeiDou OFF / Galileo ON
        Note: GPS is always switched on ! -->
   <GNSSConf ="1"/>
  </USER>
</SetConfig>]
```

11.4 LEDs, reset, update, error diagnostics

11.4.1 LEDs during a restart

A restart on the FP gateway with a memory test runs after turning the power supply on, after a factory reset and after loading new firmware.

Power (Yellow)	Data Out/ Process (Red/green)	Line (Green)	LAN (Yellow)	Mode (Red)	Remarks
\bigcirc	0				Load firmware, check checksum
\bigcirc	(flashes)				Unpacking of the firmware
\bigcirc	• + •				Launching the kernel
\bigcirc	\bigcirc				Launching the Linux application
					All LEDs off for approx. 5s
\bigcirc	(flashes)	(flashes)	(flashes)		Multiple simultaneous flashing of Data Out/Line/LAN

As soon as the device is ready for operation, an acoustic signal is emitted. Duration of the start procedure (depending on the project): approx. 1 - 2 minutes.

11.4.2 LEDs in the event of errors

Data Out/ Process (Red)	Line (Green)	LAN (Yellow)	Remarks
(flashes)	(flashes)		Error accessing the GSM module SIM card missing, wrong PIN, missing project, GSM module faulty.
	(remains off)		No coverage, low signal quality Modem is not logged in if no mobile communications network is available or the reception strength is too low. Check connection and placement of the antenna.
		(flashes)	Error in IP configuration IP address conflict or no IP address via DHCP

11.4.3 The signal LED

The devices in the HG600 series are equipped with an addition LED marked "Signal", which can be controlled freely by the user. To do this, the variable

Process/MB/SignalLED

must be set to a value between 0 and 27; these numeric values and the resulting LED behaviour are described in the following table:

Value	Status
0	off
Periodic flashing	; red
1	on
2	Flashing (200ms on, 200ms off)
3	Flashing (50ms on, 50ms off)
4	Flashing (200ms on, 600ms off)
5	Flashing (600ms on, 200ms off)
6	Double flashing (50ms on, 50ms off, 50ms on, 50ms off, 600ms off)
7	Flashing every 3 seconds
8	Double flash every 3 seconds
Periodic flashing	: green
9	on
10	Flashing (200ms on, 200ms off)
11	Flashing (50ms on, 50ms off)
12	Flashing (200ms on, 600ms off)
13	Flashing (600ms on, 200ms off)
14	Double flashing (50ms on, 50ms off, 50ms on, 50ms off, 600ms off)
15	Flashing every 3 seconds
16	Double flash every 3 seconds

Periodic flashing	red and green			
17	Double flashing (50ms green, 50ms off, 50ms red, 50ms off, 600ms off)			
18	Flashing (200ms green, 600ms red)			
19	Flashing (200ms red, 600ms green)			
20	Flashing (50ms green, 50ms off, 50ms red, 50ms off)			
Single flash: red				
21	Flashing			
22	Flashing for 4 seconds (200ms on, 200ms off)			
23	Flashing twice (50ms on, 50ms off)			
Single flash: green				
24	Flashing			
25	Flashing for 4 seconds (200ms on, 200ms off)			
26	Flashing twice (50ms on, 50ms off)			
Single flash: red and green				
27	Single flash			

11.4.4 Factory reset

During a factory reset, all data saved on the FP gateway is deleted and overwritten with factory settings (DHCP=ON).

Procedure:

- (1) Turn the device off.
- (2) Press the Service button and hold it down.
- (3) Turn the device on and wait until the Power LED flashes.
- (4) Release the Service button for a **short** time and
- (5) press again until the Power LED flashes visibly faster.
- (6) Release the Service button.



Note

Note that the device configuration is deleted during a factory reset. The FP gateway restarts with the basic factory settings. The SIM PIN is retained during a factory reset. The IP address for the Ethernet connection can also be retained after the factory reset by using a "persistent configuration" (optional feature).

Power (Yellow)	Data Out/ Process (Red/green)	Line (Green)	LAN (Yellow)	Mode (Red)	Remarks	Duration
(flashes)			\bigcirc		Service button was pressed when turning on	1-2 s
(flashes rapidly)			\bigcirc		Press the Service button again until the Power LED flashes faster, release	1-2 s
\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	Test all LEDs	
\bigcirc	0				Load firmware, check checksum	25 s
\bigcirc	(flashes)				Unpacking of the firmware	
\bigcirc	O + O				Launching the kernel	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc				Launching the Linux application	
					All LEDs off for approx. 5s	
\bigcirc	(flashes)	(flashes)	(flashes)		Multiple simultaneous flashing of Data Out / Line / LAN	
					Total duration:	approx. 60 s

LEDs during a factory reset and a restart

11.4.5 Firmware update

New firmware can be loaded into the FP gateway using an upload tool. The LEDs behave as follows when doing so:

Power (Yellow)	Data Out/ Process (Red/yellow)	Connect/ Line (Green)	LAN (Green)	Mode (Red)	Remarks	Duration
(flashes)					Unpack update, check checksum	60 s
\bigcirc		(flashes)	(flashes)		Linux application being updated	5 s
\bigcirc	(flashes)		(flashes)		Kernel being updated (optional)	20 s
\bigcirc	(flashes / illuminates)				Restart the system	45 s
				-		

Total duration: approx. 2 min. (with kernel) or 1 min. (without kernel)

The duration of the firmware update may vary. A firmware update including a Linux kernel takes around 2 minutes, an update without a Linux kernel takes around 1 minute.

For firmware updates, please contact FP InovoLabs GmbH.

ATTENTION

Damage to the peripheral devices or the device due to switched outputs!

Do not perform an update if peripheral devices are connected.

11.5 Accessories

To equip your FP gateway completely, you can obtain the following accessories directly from FP InovoLabs GmbH or your distributor:

Accessories	Description
ZP-DC24-2A	Power supply unit for installation on a 35mm top-hat rail (24 V DC, 2 A)
ZK-R9M9F180	Serial RS232 cable (D-sub-9 plug on D-sub-9 port, length: 180 cm)
ZK-BA	Blue adapter (zero modem gender changer RS232 D-sub-9 plug/plug)
ZK-RA	Red adapter (zero modem gender changer RS232 D-sub-9 port/port)
ZK-BRA	Brown adapter (for MELSEC FX/BD board on the FP gateway's COM1)
ZA-DE-MINI-LUG	Mini antenna LTE 3G UMTS GSM
ZA-DE-LUG	Rod antenna LTE 3G UMTS GSM
ZA-K-FME1000	FME cable extension, 10m
ZW-R1-SR 10	FP WiFi stick for USB for wireless configuration

Assignment of the FP adapter

Blue adapter	Red adapter	Brown adapter
male male $2 \rightarrow 2$ $3 \rightarrow 4$ $4 \rightarrow 4$ $5 \rightarrow 6$ $7 \rightarrow 7$ $8 \rightarrow 8$ $G \rightarrow G$	female female $2 \rightarrow 2$ $3 \rightarrow 4$ $4 \rightarrow 4$ $5 \rightarrow 6$ $6 \rightarrow 6$ $7 \rightarrow 7$ $8 \rightarrow 6$ $G \rightarrow 6$	malefemale $1 \leftarrow 1$ $2 \leftarrow 2$ $3 \leftarrow 3$ $5 \leftarrow 5$ $6 \leftarrow 6$ $7 \leftarrow 7$ $8 \leftarrow 8$ $9 \leftarrow 9$ $G \leftarrow G$

11.6 Mobile communications networks in Europe – USA – worldwide

Europe: GSM networks with 900 MHz and 1800 MHz

Only GSM mobile communications are provided in Europe and therefore, all networks are compatible.

The corresponding network standard only depends on the contract with your mobile communications provider.

USA: GSM networks with 850 MHz and 1900 MHz

In the USA, there are other mobile communications standards (e.g. CDMA) that are not compatible with GSM.

However, GSM is starting to also become ever more established in the USA. For example, T-Mobile uses the GSM mobile communications standard in the USA.

Worldwide: GSM is used in most countries around the world. However, CDMA or both mobile communications standards are used in some.

New LTE narrowband standards LTE Cat.NB1 and LTE Cat.M1

In addition to the 2G (GSM), 3G (UMTS) and 4G (LTE) standards, the standard known as LTE narrowband is offered increasingly. This includes LTE Cat.NB1 and LTE Cat.M1. LTE narrowband is being rolled out in more and more countries around the world. Depending on the country, either LTE Cat.NB1 or LTE Cat.M1, or even both categories is or are offered. Coverage is increasing continuously but is not yet comparable with the established 2G / 3G / 4G standards. Roaming is also often not yet possible.

Some mobile communications modems (option NB) for the FP gateways support LTE narrowband.

11.7 Models

The FP gateways in the Hutline range differ by the type and number of interfaces.

The different variants are shown on the following pages.

11.7.1 Cover plates

The cover plates for the different ranges differ slightly. The devices in the LAN range (FP S-OTGuard Hx6xx LAN, left illustration) do not have an antenna socket.

The Line LED has no function in the LAN range.





11.7.2 Variants

The following shows a top-down view of the mobile communications versions (FP S-OTGuard Hx6xx NB or FP S-OTGuard Hx6xx BB models) with their interfaces.







Hx634



Z b a (Bus) COM2 (*RS 485*) M-Bus SD-Card Service FP[®]Secure loT \odot powered by Tixi ctive Signal SD L Data out 0 Mode Line 18...30 V DC IO (0V) - + Digital In USB OOM1 (RS 232) DО

Hx653-Mx





xx = Revision of the document, starting with 00

510077900101_xx_FP-wMBusConf manual

For more information and to download documents, see <u>www.inovolabs.com</u>.

510058920001_xx_FP-TiXML-Reference	Reference guide for programming the FP gateways
510058920101_xx_FP-SPS-TiXML manual	Setting parameters for the PLC and meter protocols
510058920201_xx_FP-IIoT-Communication protocols	Overview of the WAN communication protocols
510058920401_xx_FP-Firmware_Update_Overview	Overview of the options for a firmware update
510058920501_xx_FP-Remote Firmware Update	Remote firmware update configuration
510058920601_xx_FP-SCADA-GLT	Integration of the gateways in SCADA / GLT systems
510058920701_xx_FP-Webserver-TiXML-manual	Webserver manual
510058920801_xx_FP-Universal_MQTT_Client	Universal MQTT client
510058920901_xx_FP-C8y_Client	MQTT client for Cumulocity / Software AG
510058921001_xx_FP-CoT_Client	MQTTclient for Telekom Cloud of Things
510058921101_xx_FP-Juconn_MQTT_Client	MQTT-Client for Juconn cloud
510058921201_xx_FP-OpenVPN-Toolkit_Doku	Setting up the OpenVPN client
510071900701_xx_FP_S-OTGuard_H600_TechData	Technical data for the FP HutLine gateways series H600
510070900501_xx_FP_S-ENGuard_W550_TechData	Technical data for the FP S-ENGuard gateways series 550
510070900601_xx_FP_S-ENGuard_W600_TechData	Technical data for the FP S-ENGuard gateways series 600
510058921301_xx_FP-TICO manual	Manual for software TICO
510058921401_xx_FP-TILA2 manual	Manual for software TILA2 / TILANET
510072900101_xx_FP-MAN-XP	Hardware manual for the expansion modules
510058921501_xx_FP-ModbusRTU_AutoConfig	Manual for Modbus RTU auto configuration feature
510077000401_xx_FP-wMBus adapter	Hardware manual for the wMBus adapter

Content

The following manuals and documentation are available for the FP gateways:

Q0 (0,12A) Q1 Q2 (3A) I0 I1 (0V) + A0 -()(Digital Input ĽJ Relay Out 0-10 SD-Card FP[®]Secure loT \odot powered by Tixi SD U lode 10...30 V DC - + R+ R- T- T+ (0V) COM2 (RS 485)

11.8 Further literature

Name of the manual / documentation

Hx647



Hx671

Configuration of the wMBus adapter
This manual is protected by copyright. Any further duplication is only permitted with written permission from the issuer. This also applies to copies, microfilms, translations, and storing and processing in electronic systems. Trade and brand names specified in this manual are registered trademarks of the applicable companies even if they are not designated as such explicitly.